

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

The Impact of Servant Leadership on Employee Turnover in a Warehousing Environment

Simone Hicks Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Simone D. Hicks

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Meridith Wentz, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Edward Paluch, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

The Impact of Servant Leadership on Employee Turnover in a Warehousing Environment

by

Simone D. Hicks

MBA, Walden University, 2018

BS, Georgia Southern University, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2022

Abstract

Unprecedented growth in the Port of Savannah, located in Savannah, Georgia, has resulted in growth in the local warehousing industry. With an increase in available warehousing positions, turnover has been high. High turnover costs warehousing leaders millions of dollars and results in degraded performance. Grounded in servant leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore strategies warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The participants were six distribution center supervisors in southeastern Georgia who worked for at least 1 year. Data were gathered from semistructured interviews and document reviews. The data were analyzed using Braun and Clarke's six steps of thematic analysis. Key themes were employee relationships, training, opportunities to perform, and salary. A key recommendation is for supervisors to utilize a training matrix to ensure each employee is trained on each piece of equipment and each job in the warehouse. Implications for positive social change include the potential to improve employees', families', and communities' quality of life through steady employment and income growth. With stable jobs and income growth, employees will be better equipped to care for their families and contribute to the surrounding communities.

The Impact of Servant Leadership on Employee Turnover in a Warehousing Environment

by

Simone D. Hicks

MBA, Walden University, 2018
BS, Georgia Southern University, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my family. To my wife, Robyn Hicks, thank you for understanding what this means to me. Thank you for picking up the slack when I would devote hours day after day to this doctoral study. Thank you for sacrificing your husband for this doctoral study. To my children, Kayla and Simone, I want you to surpass what I have done. I have shown you how to achieve your goals through hard work and dedication while continuing to love your family. To my parents, Hercules and Piccola Hicks, thank you for your unending prayers, support, and encouragement. To my in-laws, Leonard and Sheila Small, your support and prayers helped me to achieve this goal. Finally, I dedicate this doctoral study to the people who helped me find my purpose and begin my life's work, the workers employed by the tire warehouse in rural Georgia. You are more than your past mistakes. You are more than a tool for work. With help, you can take care of your families while achieving your goals.

Acknowledgments

I honor and praise the almighty God for sustaining us during this process. My family has endured much over the past few years, but we were able to maintain thanks to your many blessings. I want to acknowledge my chair, Dr. Meridith Wentz, for guiding me through this study. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Edward Paluch and Dr. Patsy Kasen. Finally, I would like to acknowledge all my extended family and close friends who offered encouraging words when I needed them. I thank those were proud of me for attempting to complete this program.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	9
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Organization of the Literature Review	. 12
	Servant Leadership.	. 12
	Contrasting and Supporting Theories	. 19

	Employee Turnover	29
	Summary and Conclusions	38
	Transition	40
Se	ection 2: The Project	41
	Purpose Statement	41
	Role of the Researcher	42
	Participants	44
	Research Method and Design	46
	Research Method	46
	Research Design	47
	Population and Sampling	49
	Ethical Research.	51
	Data Collection Instruments	52
	Data Collection Technique	54
	Data Organization Technique	57
	Data Analysis	57
	Step 1: Familiarization with the Data	58
	Step 2: Generation of Coding Categories	59
	Step 3: Generation of Themes	59
	Step 4: Review of Themes	59
	Step 5: Definition and Naming of Themes	60
	Step 6: Production of the Report.	60

Reliability and Validity	60
Reliability	61
Validity	61
Transition and Summary	63
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	65
Introduction	65
Presentation of the Findings	65
Theme 1: Employee Relationships	66
Theme 2: Training and Opportunities to Perform	73
Theme 3: Salary	76
Alignment With Conceptual Framework	78
Applications to Professional Practice	79
Implications for Social Change	80
Recommendations for Action	82
Curriculum	82
Employee Development	84
Recommendations for Further Research	86
Reflections	87
Conclusion	89
References	91
Appendix: Interview Protocol	138

List of Tables

Table 1. Percentage of Responses With References to Employee Relationships	
Theme and Subthemes	66
Table 2. Training Matrix	75
Table 3. Advertised Salary and Benefits for Forklift Operators at Participants'	
Organizations	77
Table 4. Salary and Additional Compensation at Participants' Organizations	78
Table 5. References to Servant Leader Constructs in Participant Responses	79

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover is an issue for many organizations. One consequence is a shortage of skilled workers (Živković et al., 2021). Many skilled workers will often leave a critical position or a position that requires a high level of skill. The open positions are often filled with employees that have less skill or experience. Wang et al. (2017) stated that employee turnover critically affects an organization's sustained growth. Daily operations are dependent on the critical role that employees play (Dewa et al., 2017). Employee turnover can harm organizational performance and organizational costs (Lee, 2018); Therefore, warehousing organizations have a vested interest in reducing employee turnover.

Background of the Problem

Southeastern Georgia is experiencing unprecedented growth in the logistics marketplace due to the development of the Port of Savannah (Georgia Ports Authority, 2018, 2019). As a result of the growth of the Port of Savannah, the warehousing industry has also experienced growth. The Georgia Ports Authority plans to increase capacity to over 9 million 20-foot equivalent units by 2030 (Georgia Ports Authority, 2020). According to the Georgia Ports Authority, the actions of the investors translate to more jobs and opportunities for port customers to grow in the surrounding areas and contribute significantly to the local economy (Georgia Ports Authority, 2018, 2020). The warehousing organizations in the region need qualified workers to service the demand from the Port of Savannah.

The business problem is that many warehousing organizations have difficulty reducing the rate of turnover among experienced employees on the warehouse floor. The leading causes of warehouse employee turnover are job security, lack of personal attention, and limited experience (Min, 2007). Warehouse leadership can influence frontline employees through leadership strategies and interactions. Supervisors have the power to reduce the amount of employee turnover and decrease the expenses associated with replacing employees. The influence of top- and middle-level leaders trickles down to frontline employees and can shape their attitudes and performance (Ling et al., 2016; Reina et al., 2018). The primary goal of this research was to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover.

Problem and Purpose

Excessive employee turnover negatively affects employee efficiency, organizational costs, and employee well-being (An, 2019; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Zhang, 2016). In December 2019, warehousing organizations in the southern United States reported losing 251,000 employees to involuntary and voluntary turnover (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020b). Costs associated with turnover costs can range from 90% to 200% of the employee's annual salary (Hom et al., 2017). The general business problem is that employee turnover harms workers and costs warehousing organizations millions of dollars each year. The specific business problem is that warehouse supervisors lack strategies to reduce employee turnover.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population

consisted of six general supply chain supervisors who managed employees in Georgia warehouses and had implemented successful turnover reduction strategies. The implications for positive social change include the potential for organizations to help improve the surrounding community through employee retention. Low turnover rates positively affect an employee's physical and mental health and a community's tax collections and social programs (Skelton et al., 2019). The findings from this research may allow workers to remain employed for longer, thus increasing their contribution to the community and their families.

Population and Sampling

The population of this study were warehouse supervisors who directly supervise front-line employees in distribution centers. The supervisors were employed for at least 1 year and work in southeastern Georgia. The sample size consisted of 6 participants chosen by purposeful sampling. The supervisors were identified through personal referrals and LinkedIn groups. Additionally, organizational documents were reviewed for relevant information.

Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative research method to explore strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. Researchers use a qualitative methodology to capture the target population's perspective (Lewis-Beck et al., 2004). Qualitative research assists the researcher in better understanding the nature and complexity of the phenomenon and allows the investigation of the phenomenon in the natural environment while answering what, how, and why questions about the complex phenomena (Bansal et

al., 2018; Basias & Pollalis, 2018). According to Rahman (2020), qualitative research allows the researcher to gather detailed descriptions of participants' opinions, experiences, and feelings while interpreting the meanings of their actions. Researchers use quantitative research methods to collect numerical data; isolate specific variables; and discover the correlation, relationship, or causality of the data (Park & Park, 2016). A quantitative research method was not suitable because the data were not numerical; instead, they were derived from the personal accounts of the target population.

Researchers use the mixed-methods research approach to collect qualitative and quantitative data in one project (Fàbregues & Molina-Azorín, 2017). I did not need to isolate specific variables and explore the correlational or causal relationships among them to answer the research question about strategies to reduce employee turnover. For this reason, I opted against using the mixed-methods research method.

Phenomenology, ethnography, and case study were the three types of qualitative research designs that were considered. I chose a case study design to identify strategies that reduce employee turnover. The advantage of a case study is that the researcher can identify patterns and characteristics, investigate, and understand complex issues in real-world settings (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017). Researchers use a multiple-case study design to gain a deeper understanding of the subject by comparing similarities and differences among the participants (Heale & Twycross, 2018). Researchers use phenomenology to understand the lived experiences of a similar group of people (Bawa & Watson, 2017). Phenomenology was not appropriate because the focus of the study was the strategies that supervisors use to reduce employee turnover, not similar views and

experiences of a group of people. Researchers use ethnography to focus on culture and the way of life of a group of people (Fusch et al., 2017). Ethnographic design was not suitable for this study because studying the entire culture of individuals to gain perspectives about employee turnover was unnecessary. I chose a multiple-case study design because it allowed me to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors in different organizations use to reduce employee turnover.

Research Ouestion

What strategies do warehouse supervisors use to reduce turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to reduce turnover?
- 2. What strategies were most effective in reducing turnover?
- 3. What strategies were least effective in reducing turnover?
- 4. How do you assess the effectiveness of your strategies to reduce turnover?
- 5. What career advancement and training opportunities do you provide employees to reduce turnover?
- 6. What barriers did you experience as you incorporated strategies to reduce turnover?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about strategies that you use to reduce turnover?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was servant leadership. Robert Greenleaf outlined the idea of servant leadership beginning in the early 1970s. After reading Herman Hesse's short novel, *Journey to the East*, Greenleaf was inspired to write

a series of essays that would be published in 1977 as Servant Leadership: A Journey Into the Nature of Legitimate Power and Greatness (Joseph & Winston, 2005). *Journey to the East* is a story about a group of people on a spiritual quest. The group could not sustain itself when the servant disappeared, and the travelers abandoned the trip. In the end, the travelers discovered that the servant who took care of the group was the leader of the religious order that inspired the initial quest. Greenleaf (as cited in Spears, 1996) theorized that authentic leadership results from a deep desire to help others and that the servant-leader is a servant first.

Servant leadership is a follower-orientated multidimensional leadership theory that focuses on the leader focusing on the needs of followers first to achieve organizational goals (Eva et al., 2019). The practice of servant leadership is centered around 10 constructs. The key constructs underlying servant leadership are (a) listening, (b) empathy, (c) healing, (d) awareness, (e) persuasion, (f) conceptualization, (g) foresight, (h) stewardship, (i) commitment to the growth of followers, and (j) building community (Coetzer et al., 2017; Dutta & Khatri, 2017).

Servant leaders improve individuals, teams, and the organization (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016; Coetzer et al., 2017; Newman et al., 2017). Servant leadership has a positive relationship with employee work engagement, organizational behavior, and job satisfaction. It is negatively correlated with worker burnout and employee turnover. Servant leadership reduces employee turnover by increasing organizational commitment (Jang & Kandampully, 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore strategies that

supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. Servant leadership is a theory that aligns with understanding how some supervisors minimize turnover.

Operational Definitions

Employee turnover: Employee turnover includes quits, layoffs and discharges, and other forms of separation from the organization (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020a; Li et al., 2019). Employee turnover occurs when an employee decides to leave or the organization terminates the relationship.

Involuntary turnover: Involuntary turnover occurs when the organization ends the relationship with the employee through termination or layoffs (An, 2019).

Servant leadership: Servant leadership is a leadership approach that focuses on the needs of the followers to achieve organizational goals (Eva et al., 2019).

Voluntary turnover: Voluntary turnover occurs when the employee voluntarily terminates their relationship with the organization (Hom et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions occur when researchers perceive something that is not verified as true (Schoenung & Dikova, 2016). The first assumption was that the interview questions were appropriate for gaining information that would answer the research question. I had this assumption because the questions directly reference strategies for reducing turnover. The second assumption was that the interview process would produce common themes that would identify supervisor strategies that reduce employee turnover. I followed the same theme identification process when analyzing the interview data and company

documentation. The last assumption was that the servant leadership theory was the best theory to understand warehouse supervisors' strategies to reduce employee turnover. I compared servant leadership to contrasting approaches to identify the best conceptual framework.

Limitations

Limitations are inherent weaknesses of a study that can influence the research results (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). A limitation of this study was that the supervisors in the study lived and worked in the state of Georgia. In other states the study phenomenon might be differently expressed, and the results may be different. The growth of the Port of Savannah made warehouses in the state the best choice for the study. A second limitation is that the focus of the study is the warehousing industry. The results of the study may vary based on the industry. The third limitation was that face-to-face interviews were not possible due to the worldwide pandemic caused by COVID-19. Social distancing procedures made conducting interviews virtually or via phone an adequate solution. A fourth limitation was the time that participating supervisors could dedicate to an interview and the member-checking process. The member-checking process required additional time to gather information from the participants through subsequent meetings. Time available for extraneous activities was at a premium due to the warehouse supervisors' work. Finally, my past work experience in the warehousing industry could have affected my interpretation of the findings.

Delimitations

Delimitations are limitations that a researcher sets for their study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The researcher has complete control of the scope of the study. The first delimitation was the small sample size of six warehouse supervisors. Case studies generally have small sample sizes (Guest et al., 2017). The second delimitation was that the study population consisted of warehouse supervisors. Interviewing the supervisors instead of employees kept the sample size small enough to complete qualitative research within a reasonable amount of time. The third delimitation was the restriction of the participants to warehouse supervisors who work in the state of Georgia. The knowledge and experience of the participants may not represent the turnover reduction strategies used in other geographic areas.

Significance of the Study

This study may help warehousing organizations improve business practices by identifying strategies that business leaders can use to reduce the costs associated with employee turnover. The reduction of employee turnover and turnover intention can improve productivity and profitability (Lin, C.-Y. and Huang, C.-K.,2021; Skelton et al., 2019). The resulting relationships between the organization and employees can encourage positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Southeastern Georgia is experiencing unprecedented growth in the logistics marketplace due to the development of the Port of Savannah (Georgia Ports Authority, 2018, 2019). Employee turnover is a key issue that business leaders in the state need to

address. Many warehousing organizations incur additional expenses when employees are dismissed or choose to leave the organization. A high turnover rate causes stagnation in the growth of organizations, and it must be minimized and moderated to protect the organization (An, 2019; Dutta & Khatri, 2017). Stagnated growth in the warehouse industry caused by employee turnover, coupled with the explosive growth in the shipping industry, can create problems that can affect ports, local businesses, and the community. Supervisors who use proactive strategies can help control the cost of employee turnover. This qualitative case study's findings may help supervisors implement strategies that reduce employee turnover and costs associated with turnover.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this qualitative case study may provide an opportunity for organizations to impact the surrounding community through strategies that reduce involuntary turnover. When warehouse organizations solve employee turnover, the organization and the surrounding community benefit. Wahlbeck and McDaid (2012) found that unemployed people experience increased mental and physical health problems, higher rates of mortality, and adverse changes in their family relationships. Reducing turnover rates among employees can improve the quality of life for those people, their families, and the communities in which they participate. When the employee turnover rate is high, the government collects less tax revenue, and its ability to support specific public programs decreases (Hoffman & Howard, 2017; Vasquez, 2014). The findings of this qualitative case study may contribute to positive social change by helping employers cultivate a more stable labor force that positively contributes to the community.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Scholars write literature reviews to provide an account of what their peers have published about the study phenomenon. In writing a literature review, a researcher can also identify gaps, opposing views, strengths, and weaknesses of the conceptual or theoretical framework for their investigations (Adedayo, 2016). The purpose of this literature review was to synthesize the existing peer-reviewed literature on servant leadership and employee turnover. Critical analysis and synthesis of the literature will be an important part of the review.

I used several databases and search engines to conduct research. I used Google Scholar, a search engine that is linked to Walden University's electronic library, as well as ABI/INFORM, Emerald Management, SAGE Premier, Academic Search Complete, ProQuest Central, Business Source Complete, and EBSCOhost databases. Also, I retrieved federal government publications that contained data on warehousing separations from the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics website. The following keywords were used to find articles to answer the research question: servant leadership, servant leadership characteristics, servant leadership and turnover, servant leadership and employee turnover, advantages and disadvantages of servant leadership, transformational leadership, servant, transformational leadership, leader-member exchange (LMX), and LMX differentiation. The Walden Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) doctoral study rubric suggests that 85% of the references should be peer-reviewed works published within 5 years of final study approval (Walden

University, 2016). The literature review contains citations from 132 articles and studies. Over 87% of the articles are peer-reviewed, and 87% are from the past 5 years.

Organization of the Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative case study is to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The conceptual framework for this study was servant leadership. The organization of this literature review includes an in-depth analysis of servant leadership. In the first section, I (a) introduce servant leadership, (b) explain the origins of servant leadership, (c) define the characteristics of servant leaders, and (d) examine the advantages and disadvantages of servant leadership. In the second section of the literature review, I explore contrasting and supporting theories of servant leadership. The final section includes a review of the literature on employee turnover. The topics explored in this section include (a) the definition of turnover, (b) the study of turnover, (c) turnover intention, and (d) the effects of turnover on organizations.

Servant Leadership

Servant leadership is a leadership approach where the leader has a primary goal to address followers' needs. Eva et al. (2019) referred to servant leadership as a way for leaders to empower followers through relational, ethical, emotional, and spiritual aspects to guide them to becoming the best version of themselves. Servant leaders help others grow, develop, and promote employees' overall well-being while achieving organizational goals over an extended period (Dutta & Khatri, 2017). Servant leadership has many positive effects on followers.

Trong Tuan (2017) researched how servant leadership influences organizational citizenship behavior and employee knowledge sharing. The study results showed that servant leadership positively correlates with organizational citizenship behavior and knowledge sharing. Sousa and Van Dierendonck (2016) found that servant leadership has a strong relationship with the degree to which the group engages in mutual and collaborative interaction. Servant leadership has a positive effect on internal and external stakeholders. While researching the impact of leadership approaches on internal and external stakeholders, Yang et al. (2017b) found a direct relationship between servant leadership and employee creativity, and team creativity. Employee satisfaction translated into consumer satisfaction. Although servant leadership is a relatively new leadership theory, it has been shown to positively affect leaders, followers, and external stakeholders.

Origins of Servant Leadership

Some scholars have contended that servant leadership has its roots in the teachings of Jesus Christ (Cincala, 2018; Locke, 2019). The idea of prioritizing the needs of followers while achieving organizational goals aligns with Christian disciplines. In his seminal essay, *The Servant as Leader*, Greenleaf (1977) recounted servant leadership's origin. Contemplation about a character named Leo led to the conceptualization of servant leadership. Leo is a character in the short novel *Journey to the East* by Herman Hesse. According to Greenleaf, Leo served a group of travelers by performing menial tasks and uplifting their spirits. As the journey progresses, Leo disappears, and the group begins to deteriorate. Eventually, they abandon the quest. After years of wandering, the

narrator of the story finds Leo. He discovers that Leo was the head of the Order that sponsored the journey. Leo was a high-ranking leader, and he played the role of a servant because he lived to serve (Greenleaf, 1977). The actions of Leo inspired the core tenets of servant leadership.

Who Is a Servant Leader?

The leader is the central character in servant leadership. The servant-leader is a servant first. Servant leaders are known to have certain positive qualities. The leaders are goal-oriented, good communicators, situational, dependable, creative, trustworthy, and intuitive (Needham, 2019). Like Leo, the servant leader has a natural inclination to serve (Spears, 1996). As a person serves, eventually, they are inspired to lead. After studying the writings of Greenleaf, Spears (2010) identified 10 specific characteristics that servant leaders possess: (a) listening, (b) empathy, (c) healing, (d) alertness, (e) persuasion, (f) conceptualization, (g) foresight, (h) stewardship, (i) commitment to others, and (j) the ability to establish a community. Servant leader characteristics are commonly defined as personality traits that influence an individual's behavior, feelings, and thought processes (Coetzer et al., 2017). These characteristics support the four leadership competencies of servant leadership. Coetzer et al. (2017) performed a literature review of 114 studies and found strong evidence to support servant leadership competencies. Four competencies of servant leadership that many scholars agree on are (a) empowerment, (b) stewardship, (c) building relationships (d) compelling vision. Competency combines the leader's knowledge, skills, traits, and habits (Coetzer et al., 2017; Podgórska & Pichlak, 2019).

The first competency of servant leadership is empowerment. Empowerment is the process of providing employees with the freedom, meaning, competence, self-determination, and autonomy to successfully influence outcomes at work (Begzadeh & Nedaei, 2017; Kim et al., 2017a). Servant leaders who empower followers contribute to the overall success of the organization. Empowered employees demonstrate positive organizational behavior (Begzadeh & Nedaei, 2017). Servant leaders act as stewards of the organization.

The following two competencies are stewardship and building relationships. The act of placing others' needs above their interests and taking responsibility for the organization's well-being is stewardship (Burton et al., 2017). Building meaningful trustful relationships is a natural byproduct of servant leadership. Lacroix and Pircher Verdorfer (2017) hypothesized that servant leadership is negatively correlated with leadership avoidance. Subsequent researchers affirmed the hypothesis. Of the 114 studies that Coetzer et al. (2017) reviewed, 54 of them recognized building relationships as a fundamental role of a servant leader. The fourth competency is a compelling vision. A skill of servant leaders is setting a compelling vision. Servant leaders create trust in followers and inspire follower creativity (Jaiswal & Dhar, 2017). The vision of the leader can help to influence employees to follow.

Benefits and Disadvantages of Servant Leadership

When servant leaders are hired and promoted from within, organizations improve due to their positive influence. Leaders who understand the needs of followers (i.e., staff) improve the latter's overall efficiency, personal benefits, and working and living conditions (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Jang & Kandampully, 2018; Newman et al., 2017). Servant leaders earn the power to influence followers positively.

Servant leaders create positive dyadic relationships with followers. Servant leaders affect followers by encouraging positive professional behaviors and increasing job satisfaction (Turgut et al., 2017). High-quality bonds formed by the dyadic relationship are valuable to both the employee and the organization. Leaders influence followers to improve organizational behavior and increase their value to the organization by allowing the servant leader to earn their trust and respect.

Thao and Kang (2020) discovered that the longer followers work with servant leaders, the more positive influence the leader has. The positive relationship results in an increase in positive organizational behavior. Newman et al. (2017) defined positive organizational behavior as a discretionary behavior that earns no reward and is not a part of regular duties. The behavior promotes the improved functioning of the organization. Many scholars have found that servant leadership positively affects employee organizational behavior (Afsar et al., 2018; Bavik et al., 2017; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Lapointe & Vandenberghe, 2018; Newman et al., 2017). Positive organizational behavior can create feelings of increased work engagement in employees.

Employees increase work engagement under the management of servant leadership. Yang et al. (2017a) found that servant leadership predicted employee engagement and job crafting. Scholars have found that leaders that adopt the servant leadership approach influence others through positive actions and relationships (Bao et

al., 2018; Kaur, 2018). When employees experience increased work engagement, the turnover rate can decrease.

The trust gained by the servant leader reduces employee turnover intention (Kashyap & Rangnekar, 2016). Servant leadership significantly reduced voluntary and involuntary turnover by increasing employees' commitment and increasing positive organizational behaviors (Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Jang & Kandampully, 2018). Servant leadership can mitigate the adverse effects of turnover.

Although servant leadership has many positive aspects, ineffective servant leaders can have negative consequences. Many organizations select leaders to achieve organizational goals. A downside of servant leaders is that they primarily focus on improving their followers' well-being (Andersen, 2009). Focusing on followers can cause the servant leader to neglect the organization's goals. Greenleaf (1977) identified the real enemy of servant leadership as fuzzy thinking by good, intelligent, vital people and their failure to lead. Servant leaders who are fuzzy thinkers manifest the adverse effects of servant leadership.

Camm (2019) explained that the aspects of fuzzy thinking appear in three ways; the naïve or unaware, the paternalistic leader, and the authoritarian. The naïve or unaware leaders are not aware of their ignorance. Dunning (2011) credits the source of ignorance as having a lack of experience and knowledge. The unaware leader will influence followers but not have the skills to lead them. What is dangerous is that the naïve servant leader will think he is performing at a high level because of the followers' positive

attention. As a result, followers learn improper habits and are ill-equipped to achieve organizational goals.

The paternalistic leader has more awareness and understanding but relies on the father figure's influence. Greenleaf (1977) asserted that followers of servant leaders are likely to become servants themselves because they are healthier, wiser, freer, and more autonomous. The paternalistic influence can cause followers to adopt child-like behavior. The power of a paternal leader reverses the autonomy that followers gain from servant leadership. Paternal leaders lead the same way a father can lead a family (Hou et al., 2019). The paternal leaders' followers will learn to rely on the leader 4the same way children depend on their parents. They may not independently solve work issues and require a hands-on leadership style as a side effect.

The servant-leader with authoritarian tendencies attempts to hide a controlling leadership style by using servant leadership within a rigid leadership style. Authoritarian tendencies are derived from the characteristics of an authoritarian leader's behavior. Authoritarian leaders exert authority and control over followers and do not expect to be questioned or challenged (Wang & Guan, 2018). A violation of servant leadership's reciprocal nature happens when the leader is highly skilled in manipulation and low on empathy. Schaubroeck et al. (2017) found that authoritarian leadership harms employees' job performance, organizational commitment, and turnover intention. Servant leaders develop intimate relationships with followers. The relationship and influence can cause positive organizational behavior to degrade. The degradation of positive behavior can harm organizational performance and affect the achievement of organizational goals.

Scholars recognized that an overlap exists between servant leadership and transformational leadership (Hoch et al., 2016). Therefore, transformational leadership is an appropriate contrasting theory. LMX has a positive relationship with servant leadership (Abu Bakar & McCann, 2018; Mostafa & El-Motalib, 2019). The positive nature of the relationship between servant leadership and LMX qualifies the latter as a supporting theory.

Contrasting and Supporting Theories

The following sections will include information about the supporting and contrasting theories of servant leadership. A contrasting theory to servant leadership is transformational leadership. Andersen (2018) compared servant leadership and transformational leadership in four categories: scope, leadership concept, definitions, and organizational outcomes. Servant leadership and transformational differ in all four categories in varying degrees.

LMX theory is a supporting theory to servant leadership. Many scholars have studied the relationship between LMX and servant leadership. Akdol and Arikboga (2017) studied Turkish ICT companies and found that LMX mediates the relationship between servant leadership and job satisfaction. Hanse et al. (2016) conducted a study that showed servant leadership has a strong positive effect on high-quality LMX relationships. While studying the relationship between LMX and servant leadership, Mostafa and El-Motalib (2019) found that servant leadership has a positive relationship with LMX. The association has a significant impact on proactive behavior.

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership is a leadership style that influences followers to put the organization's needs before their self-interests (Eberly et al., 2017). The transformational leader can achieve organizational goals by creating shared goals, visions, and values (Park & Pierce, 2020). Sun and Henderson (2017) found that transformational leaders generate a feeling in their subordinates that encourages them toward achieving organizational goals.

James V. Downton initially introduced transformational leadership in 1973 (Khan et al., 2018). Downton contrasted transformational rebel leaders to leaders who motivate followers through rewards and punishments. Later, James MacGregor Burns conceptualized transforming leadership by researching political leaders' leadership characteristics (Hoch et al., 2016). Burns (1978) contended that transformational leadership was a process in which leaders and followers can help one another improve their morale and motivation. Transformational leaders influence followers to serve the collective interest of the organization above their own. In later years, Bass (1985) expanded on the idea of transformational leadership. The works of Bass were the basis for the modern definition of transformational leadership.

Bass (1985) theorized that transformational leadership comprises four dimensions or characteristics. Leaders who possess the four characteristics positively impact business performance, reduce worker turnover, improve group functionality, and bolster team spirit (Nohe & Hertel, 2017; Sahu et al., 2018). The four dimensions of transformational

leadership are (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individual consideration (Park & Pierce, 2020; Sun & Wang, 2017).

Transformational leaders exhibit idealized influence when followers view leaders as role models (Alwahaibi, 2019). Idealized influence encompasses both attitudes and 'behaviors of the transformational leader. Chan et al. (2019) defined idealized influence as the activities that the charismatic leader practices that cause followers to focus on the organizational goals' significance. Idealized influence has a positive relationship with organizational commitment and job satisfaction (Malik et al., 2017; Puni et al., 2018).

Inspirational motivation helps the transformational leader influence followers to align their personal goals with the organization's vision and mission. Workers who followed transformational leaders who possessed inspirational motivation surpassed organizational goals and improved communication (Pilbeam et al., 2016).

Transformational leaders used inspirational motivation to establish trust among followers (Jena et al., 2018). Trust in supervisors has been shown to influence turnover and job embeddedness. Purba et al. (2016) verified the relationship between supervisor trust, turnover, and job embeddedness.

The transformational leader who possesses intellectual stimulation influences followers to grow intellectually by solving work problems in new ways (Bass et al., 1987; Grégoris et al., 2017). Intellectual stimulation aids in employee empowerment. Choi et al. (2017) researched how effective transformational leadership styles influence team effectiveness. Choi et al. found that employee empowerment has a significant positive relationship with improving job satisfaction.

Individual consideration refers to how leaders mentor and coach followers (Puni et al., 2018). Mentoring and coaching are more effective when followers view a transformational leader as a role model. Lapointe and Vandenberghe (2018) found that mentoring from supervisors significantly reduced the likelihood of employee turnover.

Benefits and Disadvantages of Transformational Leadership.

Transformational leadership is considered one of the premier leadership approaches. Since the conceptualization of the transformational leadership theory, transformational leaders have demonstrated that the idea has advantages. Many organizations have benefited from transformational leadership. Benefits of transformational leadership included reduced turnover, elevated organizational commitment, improved employee engagement, more positive employee work behavior, and increased work performance (Chan, 2020; Eberly et al., 2017; Khattak et al., 2020; Li et al., 2019; Park & Pierce, 2020; Sahu et al., 2018).

Organizations experience improved performance when transformational leaders lead followers. While researching the influence of self-efficacy on the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteers' performance, Chan (2020) found that transformational leadership was positively associated with the volunteers' performance. Khattak et al. (2020) studied 282 employees working in eight different private and public sector organizations from the banking, higher education, telecommunications, and health sectors. Khattak et al. found that transformational leadership influenced continuous improvement efforts.

Followers of transformational leaders have increased job satisfaction. The charisma and influence of the transformational leader improve how the follower feels about the job. Boamah et al. (2018) found that transformational nurse leaders enhance patient care by creating positive and empowering work environments. These leaders provide employees with a clear sense of mission, communicate with employees how their work is important, dedication to organizational goals, and encourage others to follow. In a study of 281 multinational organization employees in China, Li et al. (2019) found that transformational leadership has a positive relationship with innovative work behavior, work engagement, and trust in the leader. Trust in a leader can influence job satisfaction.

Organizations that employ transformational leaders report lower amounts of employee turnover. Job satisfaction was directly related to less turnover for organizations (Lu et al., 2016; Min, 2007). Eberly et al. (2017) examined the effects of transformational leadership on followers' turnover intentions within an extreme context. Extreme context was defined as an environment where extreme events occur and result in personnel's physical, psychological, or material consequences. Eberly et al. found that transformational leadership increases on-the-job embeddedness, indirectly reducing employee turnover intentions. The more extreme the environment, the more significant influence transformational leadership had on the follower's motivation to stay.

Although popular among scholars and leaders, transformational leadership has criticisms. One criticism is that transformational leadership behavior is a limited resource. Breevaart and Bakker (2018) found that transformational leadership varied from day to day within the same leader. Leaders are encouraged to decide when to be a

transformational leader (Breevaart & Bakker, 2018). The variance of transformational leadership strategies highlights that transformational leadership is a process and not an inherent characteristic of the leader

Another criticism of transformational leadership is that no definite, clear definition exists. The constructs of transformational leadership are ambiguous. Fischer (2016) found that it was difficult to observe how transformational leadership influenced positive outcomes. Berkovich (2016) shared a similar viewpoint and asserted that transformational leadership was the byproduct of effective leadership, not a form of leadership.

The main characteristics of transformational leadership drive what defines a transformational leader. Alatawi (2017) argued that leaders who possess only one of the attributes are considered transformational leaders. After studying pertinent literature, Alatawi concluded that idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration do not affect the positive results of transformational leadership. Alatawi supported the idea that conceptualized factors of transformational leadership may not be central to what makes a transformational leader.

Leader-Member Exchange Theory

LMX theory is a leadership approach that focuses on the dyadic relationship between the leader and the follower instead leader's traits and behaviors (Sparrowe, 2020; Zhao et al., 2019). LMX addresses the idea that leaders have different relationships with their followers. Scholars found that many leaders treat all followers differently and establish different relationships with them (Liden et al., 1997; Muzammal et al., 2017;

Quade et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2019). The nature of the relationships between leader and subordinate makes LMX a similar theory to servant leadership.

LMX has beginnings in the seminal works on vertical dyad linkage (Gottfredson et al., 2020). Dansereau et al. (1975) posited that the relationships in each vertical dyad are radically different. A vital component of the research was focusing on the leader's behavior. Dansereau et al. conducted a study 60 managers in high leadership positions at a large public university. Their dyadic relationships spanning over 9 months were the data sources. Dansereau et al. found that followers became separated into trusted assistants and ordinary members. The leader developed a more substantial, developmental relationship with trusted assistants than ordinary members. Dansereau et al. found that leaders concurrently establish leadership behaviors with some followers and supervision behaviors with others. Vertical dyad linkage became an alternative approach to traditional leadership styles.

In later years, scholars expanded vertical dyad linkage to include leaders' influence on followers' actions and behaviors (Muzammal et al., 2017). A pivotal moment in the development of LMX was the work of Graen and Uhl-Bein. Graen and Uhl-Bein (1995) found that LMX was more than the dyadic relationship between leader and follower. The LMX model shifts from the relationship to the process of effectively increasing the effectiveness of those relationships.

LMX has three main life cycle stages; the stranger stage, acquaintance stage, and a mature partnership (Hwang et al., 2020). In the stranger stage, the relationship between the leader and follower is formal. In the acquaintance stage, a series of events improve

the relationship's quality (Cropanzano et al., 2017). Finally, a mature partnership develops. A mature partnership represents the pinnacle of the dyadic relationship. A mature partnership's hallmarks are loyalty, support, trust, mutual respect, influence, obligation, and long-term reciprocation from both parties (Graen & Uhl-Bein, 1995).

Differentiation and Its Impact on Leader-Follower Relationship Quality.

LMX differentiation is the degree that leaders' relationships with followers of the same group differ in quality (Chiniara & Bentein, 2018; Martin et al., 2018; Xie et al., 2019). The relationships that leaders forge with followers differ in quality. These relationships determine if the follower is in the in-group or out-group. Lee and Chae (2017) found that LMX differentiation had an inverted U-shaped relationship with group performance. LMX differentiation positively affects group performance up to a certain point. After that point, LMX differentiation begins to harm group performance.

Relationship quality can determine the direction and intensity of follower behavior (Jawahar et al., 2018). High-quality relationship exchanges result in positive outcomes for the organization and its followers. Followers in high-quality relationships have been found to have improved communication with managers, better rapport, personal attention, positive emotional support, and experience constructive discourse with leaders (Jawahar et al., 2018; Lee & Varon, 2020; Nguyen, 2020). Lee and Varon found that employees in high-quality relationships demonstrate more loyal behaviors and are less likely to participate in neglectful behaviors than those in low-quality relationships. The relationship's quality determines if the follower is a part of the ingroup or the out-group.

The central concept of LMX is that leaders form unique relationships with followers. These relationships ranged from high-quality, in which mutual trust, respect, and obligation are the foundation of the relationship, to low-quality relationships based on economic exchanges or contractual transactions (Seo et al., 2018). Followers who experienced high-quality relationships are in the in-group, while those with a lower quality relationship composed the out-group (Estel et al., 2019). The formation of the groups can have many benefits and disadvantages for organizations.

Advantages and Disadvantages of LMX. LMX has a positive effect on organizations and followers. Employees who participate in high-quality LMX have higher performance levels (Lu & Sun, 2017; Xie et al., 2019). Jawahar et al. (2018) studied 189 high-tech professionals to determine the relationship between LMX, occupational self-efficacy, and counterproductive performance. The authors found that a low-quality relationship restricts occupational self-efficacy and encourages ineffective performance. Employees with high-quality LMX relationships with supervisors had a higher organizational commitment, job satisfaction, employee empowerment, positive organizational behavior, and lower turnover rates (Sparrowe, 2020). Nguyen (2020) found that the relationship between the leader and followers impacted performance through job satisfaction and innovation.

Employees also experience a benefit from LMX. As a result of high-quality relationships, many employees experienced differences in status, attention, autonomy, opportunity, or access to information (Buengeler et al., 2020). When employees perceive a high-quality LMX relationship with a leader, they experience a personal benefit. Ellis et

al. (2019) studied 129 employees from different industries. Ellis et al. found that when employees thought they had a higher quality LMX with the leader, they increased positive feelings, such as a sense of belongingness, increased stamina, and decreased emotional exhaustion. LMX has benefits for the organization and the follower, but it also has disadvantages.

LMX has a foundation in the relationships that leaders cultivate with followers. Through interactions with leaders, followers become members of the in-group and the out-group. Many of the positive gains are from the LMX focus on the organization and the in-group members. Immediate supervisors can positively affect organizational citizenship behavior through LMX (Anand et al., 2018).

The disadvantages of LMX are evident with members of the out-group. Jawahar et al. (2018) discovered that members of the out-group feel less effective at their jobs and are more likely to participate in malicious behavior. The source of the negative feelings is repeated experiences of unfavorable treatment from their leader compared to the in-group (Jawahar et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2017b). The treatment of those in the out-group is at the root of many disadvantages of LMX.

How supervisors treat subordinates daily affects how employees perceive LMX relationship quality. The perception of LMX quality can change daily. Ellis et al. (2019) reported the positive effects of the perception of LMX quality. If an employee has a negative perception of LMX quality, the benefits fade. Employees who possessed political communication and relationship-building skills forged high-quality relationships with leaders (Epitropaki et al., 2016). Employees that lacked these skills but

demonstrated proficiency in the workplace eventually degraded. As a result, both the organization and the employee experienced harm.

LMX differentiation is a disadvantage of LMX. LMX differentiation comprises three constructs: LMX separation, LMX variety, and LMX disparity (Buengeler et al., 2020). LMX separation happens when employees split into an in-group and an out-group. Distribution of employees along a spectrum from low LMX to high LMX results in LMX variety. LMX disparity happens when a disproportionate number of employees are in the out-group. According to Ellis et al. (2019), employees can have different perceptions of LMX daily. The leader must maintain followers with high-quality LMX and increase those with low-quality LMX daily. The danger is that the leader can focus on those in the in-group and neglect those in the out-group. When leaders do not invest in the relationship with the out-group, it can accelerate the approach to the apex of the inverted U-shaped relationship with group performance that Lee and Chae (2017) discovered.

Employee Turnover

According to Price (2001), employee turnover is the movement of employees away from the organization. Scholars commonly separate turnover into two main categories, voluntary and involuntary. Voluntary turnover occurs when the employee severs the relationship between the organization and themselves. Involuntary turnover is the opposite; the organization ends the relationship with the employee. Hom et al. (2019) believe that scholars and employers are most concerned with voluntary turnover because they have less control over the outcome. Therefore, many conceptual models and theories are concerned with voluntary turnover.

Bills (1925) completed one of the earliest empirical turnover studies. Marion Bills studied 59 clerical workers in a medium-sized life insurance company. Bills discovered that the company experienced an average turnover of 20.5%. Employees from professional or small business owner families were more likely to quit than those who were semi-skilled or unskilled laborers. The results of Bills laid the foundation for using data to forecast outcomes, consequences, or effects of turnover. In the following sections, I further explore turnover. The sections are structured as follows (a) the study of employee turnover, (b) turnover intention, (c) the effects of turnover on organizations, and (d) servant leadership and turnover.

Study of Employee Turnover

Hom et al. (2017) described the 1920s to the late 1960s as the formative years of turnover research. During the 1930s through the 1940s, scholars discovered occupational turnover patterns and correlations between demographics using predictive test validation to determine job tenure. In 1958, James March and Herbert Simon published their seminal work that established a formal voluntary turnover model (Hom et al., 2017; Wilden et al., 2019). March and Simon asserted that employers could influence employee job satisfaction and intention to leave through enticements (Arekar et al., 2016). The work of March and Simon influenced scholars to define turnover over the preceding decades further.

In the late 1970s, William H. Mobley further elaborated on the theory of turnover.

Mobley (1977) defined how feelings of dissatisfaction can result in employee turnover.

Mobley developed a linear sequence that includes (a) dissatisfaction, (b) thoughts of

quitting, (c) evaluation of job search utility and costs of quitting, (d) search intention (e) evaluation of alternatives, (f) comparison of alternatives and present job, (g) quit intentions, (h) quits (Hom et al., 2017; Price, 2001). Later, Mobley et al. (1979) found that age, tenure, overall satisfaction, job content, intentions to remain on the job, and commitment consistently negatively impact turnover. Mobley et al. created a conceptual model that explained the difference between satisfaction and job utility; and non-work values and consequences of turnover behavior.

Another pioneer of turnover theory was James L. Price. Price was responsible for determining what factors motivated people to quit (Price, 2001). Price's research highlighted internal and external factors that contributed to turnover. External factors that influence turnover are opportunity and kinship responsibility. Price defined opportunity as the availability of replacement jobs and kinship responsibility as obligations toward relatives. The availability of replacement jobs and kinship responsibility has many mediating factors that influenced turnover. Internal variables that were determinants of turnover are job satisfaction, organizational commitment, search behavior, and intent to stay (Price, 2001).

The unfolding model was the next milestone in turnover research. Mitchell and Lee (2001) challenged March and Simon's ideas about turnover and developed the unfolding model of voluntary turnover. The unfolding model explains how a single event can influence an employee to voluntarily leave their job through one of four paths (Mitchell & Lee, 2001; Srivastava & Agrawal, 2020). Once the event, which Mitchell

and Lee refer to as a shock to the system, the urge to quit is initiated, and the person internally has thoughts of leaving.

Shocks can be positive, negative, or neutral (Mitchell & Lee, 2001). In the first decision path, a positive shock occurs. Lee et al. (1999) identified an example of a positive shock as an unsolicited job offer. The employee quickly decides to leave the organization. When the employee engages on the second path, an adverse organizational event originates the shock event. These events can include not being chosen for a promotion or an unfavorable review (Mitchell & Lee, 2001). The employee then reassesses their commitment to the organization and its relation to their value system. In this case, the employee does not have the option of another job readily available. The employee decides to stay or leave the company based on an internal decision-making process.

In the third path, the employee experiences a positive, neutral, or negative shock. The opportunity for a job alternative instead of the current situation is available. The employee must decide to leave or stay with the organization. A shock does not predicate the fourth path. The employee has negative feelings regarding the organization. When the dissatisfaction becomes unbearable, they choose to leave. Either they can have a job alternative or have no job prospects. Studying the behaviors that lead to voluntary turnover through the unfolding model has helped scholars better understand how and why people quit their jobs (Hom et al., 2017).

Mitchell et al. (2001) further expanded upon the unfolding model and introduced the concept of job embeddedness. The purpose of the study was to define further the

factors that make people stay in their jobs and encourage them to leave. Erkutlu and Chafra (2017) defined job embeddedness as the combined forces influencing an individual not to quit their job. A key component of job embeddedness is the links to other aspects, such as people, job fit, and consequences of leaving (Mitchell et al., 2001; Rubenstein et al., 2019). The stronger the employee's bonds, the less likely they are to leave.

Turnover Intention

Scholars often split turnover into two constructs, intentional and actual. An employee's probability of leaving an organization is known as turnover intention (Skelton et al., 2019). Actual turnover happens when the employee leaves the organization. Fukui et al. (2019) stated that actual turnover data is not always available and is challenging to collect reliably. Therefore, many scholars choose to focus on turnover intention.

Employees have many different reasons that they choose to leave an organization. Scholars have reduced reasons to leave to withdrawal categories. The withdrawal categories are push-to-leave, pull-to-leave, or pull-to-stay (Sun & Wang, 2017). Push to leave withdrawal is a predictor that affects how much an employee wants to leave. Pull-to-leave are difficulties that occur when transitioning from an intention to leave to leaving. Pull-to-stay are the factors that encourage an employee to stay.

Scholars have found a relationship between turnover intention and turnover rate (Fukui et al., 2019; Sun & Wang, 2017). Sun and Wang (2017) studied the turnover intentions of 62,115 teachers. Sun and Wang revealed that supervisor actions that positively affect turnover intention also positively affected actual turnover within each

school in the system. Teachers did not desire to leave, and a more collaborative culture resulted from positive supervisor actions. Fukui et al. (2019) examined turnover intention and actual turnover among community mental health providers. According to Fukui et al., increased supervisor support reduces turnover intention and actual turnover. A change that affects turnover intention will have the same effect on actual turnover. Reducing turnover intention will reduce actual turnover.

Conversely, Cohen et al. (2016) studied the usefulness of turnover intention as a predictor of actual turnover. The study consisted of 180 federal agencies in the United States. The researchers studied various relationships between performance culture perception, satisfaction, and turnover intention rate. The study results show that individual turnover intentions directly affect actual turnover. The effects of the relationship between turnover are diminished on the organizational level. Cohen et al. found that of the 11 variables that predict turnover, only three predict turnover intention: telecommuters, workload satisfaction, and pay satisfaction. Cohen et al. concluded that turnover intention and actual turnover are not the same at the organizational level, and the variables that predict them are different.

Effects of Turnover on Organizations

Zhao et al. (2018) asserted that employee turnover poses a significant problem for organizations because it damages a skilled workforce through the team's damaged integrity. Organizations bear a heavy burden due to excessive turnover. Dissolving the relationship between the organization and the employee has been found to, directly and indirectly, affect the business. Scholars have concluded that turnover causes many

organizations to experience increased hiring and training costs, reduced efficiency, diminished profits, restricted growth, and overall lower employee morale (An, 2019; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Hom et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2018; Skelton et al., 2019; Vardaman et al., 2018). The cost of losing an employee and hiring a replacement can average about 20% for each employee and will often exceed 100% of the yearly salary for each position vacated (Thacker et al., 2019).

Turnover can have other adverse effects on organizations. Other turnover effects include reduced organizational performance, productivity, and ineffective organizational strategies (Chanodkar et al., 2020; Hausknecht, 2017). During the turnover process, the organization replaces the former employee. The new employees require a period of adjustment that disrupts the flow of operations, costs valuable time and effort, and detracts from achieving organizational goals (Abdali et al., 2020). Therefore, business leaders must learn how to monitor and control turnover.

Organizational Costs. When employees separate from the company, it can cost the organization anywhere from 90% to 200% of their annual salary (Hom et al., 2017). Scholars often classify the cost of turnover into direct and indirect costs (Li, 2017). The direct costs that the organization endures are damaging. Direct costs are paid directly by an organization and include separation costs, replacement costs, and training costs (Grotto et al., 2017). Separation costs are commonly associated with termination or voluntary leaving. Direct separation costs include severance pay, unemployment insurance claims, and continued health benefits (Grotto et al., 2017). Indirect costs include exit processing, time spent updating employee records, and other maintenance

activities (Grotto et al., 2017). Once the employee is separated, the organization must incur replacement costs. Direct replacement costs include recruitment, orientation, and training costs (Kang et al., 2018).

Reduced Efficiency. Turnover is an event that causes a disturbance in the organization. According to Grotto et al. (2017), when turnover occurs, the social environment is disrupted, knowledge and skills are lost, the probability of accidents increases, and quality degrades. Turnover can cause a loss of skills and knowledge that employees gain through experience (Wynen et al., 2019). The remaining employees are left to pick up the slack until a new team member is recruited, trained, and begins to produce at an acceptable level. The additional effort by the remaining employees can cause undue stress that may affect their turnover intention; when employees experience high occupational stress levels, burnout, compassion fatigue, and low work-life balance, turnover rates increase (Bhojanna & Srikanth, 2019; McDermid et al., 2019).

Minimal amounts of turnover are healthy for organizations. De Winne et al. (2019) found that productivity increases when turnover levels are low. The relationship between turnover and organizational performance is related to an inverted U shape (An, 2019). When an organization experiences turnover, the first impact is positive, as represented by the apex of the inverted U. As turnover levels continue to increase, the benefits associated with the turnover transitioned to negative impacts on performance (Wynen et al., 2019).

Li and Guthrie (2016) examined the effects of excessive turnover on organizational performance. The focus is on the loss of star performers and the effect on

performance. The study population was 4,535 research-oriented academic departments within 329 large universities, from agricultural sciences, biological and biomedical sciences, engineering, physical and mathematical sciences, and social and behavioral sciences. Li and Guthrie found that high levels of employee turnover cause unit-level performance to suffer. Wynen et al. (2019) studied the impact of turnover on performance in 30 divisions of the same agency in Belgium. The results of the study lead to the conclusion that higher levels of turnover negatively affect performance. Both studies support the theory of the inverted U. Turnover positively affects work performance up to a certain point. After turnover reaches a critical level, the organization experiences performance that trends in a negative direction.

Servant Leadership and Turnover

Employees that work in high-stress environments tend to experience high turnover rates (McDermid et al., 2019). According to the OSHA Pocket File, the warehousing industry's fatal injury rate is higher than the national average for all industries (OSHA Pocket File, n.d). Warehousing environments are high-stress environments. Turnover in a high-stress environment can have dangerous and costly consequences. Organizations often employ expedited hiring processes and bypass safety training (Thacker et al., 2019). Servant leadership has a relationship with employee turnover.

Servant leadership affects turnover. Thacker et al. (2019) found that servant leadership can reduce employee turnover rates in solid waste management firms and overwhelmingly positively affect employees. Employees of solid waste management

firms are like many employees of high-stress environments. Jang and Kandampully (2018) found that servant leadership influences turnover in unskilled or semi-skilled employees through affective organizational commitment. Many unskilled or semi-skilled employees work in high-stress environments. Turgut et al. (2017) found that servant leadership has a negative and significant relationship with turnover intentions.

Summary and Conclusions

Servant leadership has a strong focus on leader behaviors that satisfy the follower's needs (Liao et al., 2020). Robert Greenleaf theorized servant leadership in his seminal essay, *The Servant as Leader* (Greenleaf, 1977). Beginning as an idea in an essay, the concept of servant leadership has evolved into a widely studied leadership theory.

The leader is the central character in servant leadership. A servant-leader is a servant first. Scholars have found that servant leaders possess certain influential characteristics and competencies (Coetzer et al., 2017; Needham, 2019; Podgórska & Pichlak, 2019; Spears, 1996). Spears (2010) identified ten specific characteristics that servant leaders possess: (a) listening, (b) empathy, (c) healing, (d) being alert, (e) persuasion, (f) conceptualization, (g) foresight, (h) stewardship, (i) commitment to others, and (j) establishing a community. Servant leaders also possess four competencies. The four competencies of servant leadership are (a) empowerment, (b) stewardship, (c) building relationships (d) compelling vision (Coetzer et al., 2017).

Like many leadership theories before it, servant leadership has many benefits and disadvantages. Some of the more popular advantages include positive effects on

employees, increased job satisfaction, and reduced turnover intention (Afsar et al., 2018; Bavik et al., 2017; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Jang & Kandampully, 2018; Lapointe & Vandenberghe, 2018; Newman et al., 2017; Turgut et al., 2017). The disadvantages of servant leadership mainly originate from the flaws of the leader. Greenleaf (1977) identified servant leadership's weaknesses as fuzzy thinking by good, intelligent, vital people and failure to lead. Servant leaders who are fuzzy thinkers manifest the adverse effects of servant leadership.

This literature review contains information about the supporting and contrasting servant leadership theories. A supporting theory to servant leadership is LMX. Scholars have found that LMX and servant leadership have a positive relationship (Mostafa & El-Motalib, 2019). Transformational leadership is a contrasting theory to servant leadership—the main difference between the two theories is the leader's focus.

Transformational leaders have an organizational focus instead of a follower focus (Eberly et al., 2017).

Employee turnover history and the relationship between servant leadership and employee turnover concludes the literature review. Thacker et al. (2019) found that servant leadership can reduce employee turnover rates and positively affect employees. Jang and Kandampully (2018) found that servant leadership influences turnover in unskilled or semi-skilled employees. Turgut et al. (2017) found that servant leadership has a negative and significant relationship with turnover.

Transition

Section 1 of this doctoral study examined the specific business problem and purpose of the study. In the remaining parts of Section 1, the nature of the study, research questions, conceptual framework, and the significance of the study was introduced. A review of the relevant professional and academic literature completes the section. In Section 2, I reiterate the purpose of the study. The role of the researcher is elaborated upon, as well as procedures to mitigate bias. An explanation of the research participants, research method and design, population sampling, and ethical research discussion follow. Section 3 includes the findings of the research, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations, and reflections.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I review the research method and the study's design. Section 2 begins with a restatement of the purpose statement from Section 1. In this section, I review the role of the researcher in the data collection process, ethics, bias, and the interview protocol. The participants' eligibility criteria and strategies to gain access and establish a working relationship are defined. Next, in describing the nature of the study, I explain the research method and design. I then explain the population and sampling of the study before transitioning to details of the ethical procedures that I followed in conducting the study. Finally, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, and data analysis are explained. Section 2 concludes with a transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population consisted of six general supply chain supervisors who manage employees in Georgia warehouses who have implemented successful turnover reduction strategies. The implications for positive social change include the potential for organizations to help improve the surrounding community through employee retention. Low turnover rates positively affect the employee's physical and mental health and the community's tax collections and social programs (Skelton et al., 2019). The findings from this research may allow workers to remain employed for longer, thus increasing their contribution to the community and their families.

Role of the Researcher

Researchers are considered the research instrument in qualitative studies (McGrath et al., 2019). Researchers must be mindful of how they can influence participant consent, data collection, and analysis (Geddis-Regan et al., 2021; Korstjens & Moser, 2017). Researchers use a qualitative methodology to capture the target population's perspective (Lewis-Beck et al., 2004). The role of the researcher is essential in the completion of a doctoral study. The researcher recruits the participants, collects data, analyzes the data, and evaluates the findings.

Qualitative researchers must recognize that their personal experiences and biases can influence how they interact with participants (Karagiozis, 2018). The researcher's bias is a concern because personal bias can cause the researcher to misrepresent the participant's experiences (Wadams & Park, 2018). I previously held the position of assistant general manager of a warehouse in southeastern Georgia. The workforce was comprised mainly of semiskilled or unskilled labor. Managers who had direct contact with employees were my subordinates. One of my responsibilities was to hire the labor company that supplied workers and set parameters on the type of worker that would fit into the organization. I oversaw the replenishment of employees after involuntary and voluntary turnover occurred. These experiences allowed me to recognize the negative impact that businesses and employees experienced from turnover. Yin (2017) asserted that a researcher must understand the business problem to produce a high-quality case study. Firsthand knowledge of the effects of turnover created a desire to research how successful supervisors reduce turnover. Because I no longer work in the warehousing

industry, my relationship with the research participants was only that of an outside observer.

Researchers can experience ethical challenges when conducting research. Cumyn et al. (2019) found that researchers usually embody three roles in research: reflective practitioners, protectors of participants, and technicians. Reflective practitioners integrate ethics into their mindset at each stage of the research. Researchers fill the role of protector of participants. Throughout the doctoral study, researchers protect participants by (a) making considerations on how to minimize harm, (b) continuously practicing the process of informed consent, and (c) engaging in ongoing communication until the study is complete (Cumyn et al., 2019). Finally, the researcher must ensure technical compliance with the code of ethics set forth by regulatory agencies. These roles relate to the three guiding principles of the *Belmont Report*. The three principles are (a) boundaries between practice and research, (b) basic ethical principles which include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice, and (c) applications of the general principles to the conduct of research (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Reflective practitioners place boundaries between practice and research by implementing ethics in each part of the research. Researchers protect participants by following the basic ethical principles outlined in the Belmont Report. Finally, technicians consider informed consent, risk/benefit assessment, and how the research subjects are selected (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Researchers must collect, evaluate data, and determine a conclusion. Researchers are human, and it is

impossible to omit bias completely (Zapf & Dror, 2017). Because the researcher is the data collection instrument, not mitigating a personal lens/worldview can create bias within the research. In qualitative research, some accepted ways that a researcher can mitigate bias are conducting unstructured semistructured interviews, engaging in bracketing, seeking data saturation, using an interview protocol, partaking member checking, and incorporating triangulation (Peterson, 2019; Wadams & Park, 2018). I sought to mitigate bias by implementing these strategies. Eliminating personal bias is impossible, but researchers can reduce it to a manageable level.

Yeong et al. (2018) explained that a reliable interview protocol is imperative to obtaining the best quality interview data. Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggested that qualitative interviewers use a four-phase process to further refine interview protocols. The four phases consist of the following actions: (a) ensuring that interview questions align with research questions, (b) constructing an inquiry-based conversation to encourage the participant to engage in conversation about the topic, (c) receiving feedback on interview protocols, and (d) piloting the interview protocol through practice. Researchers implement reliable interview protocols to mitigate bias and collect quality data.

Participants

Qualitative researchers deliberately choose sample participants to provide information to answer the research question (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). The interview participants had the knowledge and experience necessary to answer interview questions. The participants in the study were warehouse supervisors who directly supervised front-

line employees. These supervisors had experience managing employee turnover in distribution centers. The supervisor must have been employed for at least 1 year and worked in Georgia.

Over 3 million square feet of warehousing space was available within 30 miles of the Port of Savannah (Dillon, 2020). The Port of Savannah also has the largest concentration of retail distribution centers on the East Coast (Dillon, 2020). Given the abundance of warehousing facilities in the local area, gaining access to participants required a well-focused strategy. I used my personal network to achieve the required number of participants. I have worked in the warehousing industry for several years and have maintained contacts in the field.

Establishing rapport and building trust are imperative to cultivating a working relationship with participants before and during the interview (McGrath et al., 2019). Participants should understand the research in which they have chosen to participate. McGrath et al. (2019) suggested that researchers present participants with a summary of the purpose of the research written in lay terms. The summary explains the topic of the interview and why it is essential. Before interviewing the participants, reviewing participant rights, privacy clauses, guidelines, and confidentiality procedures increases trust (Petrova et al., 2016). Following a specific interview protocol with an open and curious attitude helps build rapport (McGrath et al., 2019; Yeong et al., 2018). The development of rapport before and during the interview process helps the member-checking process. I established a working relationship with participants by summarizing the purpose of the research in lay terms, reviewing participant rights, privacy clauses,

guidelines, and confidentiality procedures, and following a specific interview protocol with an open and curious attitude.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Scholars may choose to use quantitative, qualitative, or mixed-methods research methods to answer research questions (Khaldi, 2017). Qualitative research has benefits that quantitative and mixed methods do not. Qualitative research assists the researcher in better understanding the nature and complexity of the phenomenon and allows the researcher to investigate the phenomenon in the natural environment while answering what, how, and why questions (Bansal et al., 2018; Basias & Pollalis, 2018). According to Rahman (2020), qualitative research allows the researcher to gather detailed descriptions of participants' opinions, experiences, and feelings while interpreting the meanings of their actions. I chose a qualitative method because the purpose of the study was to discover what strategies supervisors use to reduce turnover. A qualitative methodology allowed me to study turnover reduction strategies in the working environment and better understand how the strategies reduce turnover.

One way to collect data using a qualitative methodology is to conduct participant interviews. Researchers can gain rich and detailed information about an individual's experiences by conducting interviews (Majid et al., 2017). In this study, I examined warehouse supervisors' strategies to reduce employee turnover. By conducting individual interviews, I was able to answer what, how, and why questions about employee turnover strategies.

Researchers use qualitative research methods to explore various concepts.

Researchers can use interviews, focus groups, and observations to collect data (Bleiker et al., 2019). The main form of data collection for this study was participant interviews.

Therefore, there were no numerical data or variables to isolate.

The purpose of this study was to examine strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce turnover. Seeking the correlation, relationship, or causality of the data was not an aim of this study. Quantitative researchers cannot determine how people interpret their actions or the actions of others (Rahman, 2020). The interpretation of the actions of the warehouse supervisors in the study was paramount to examining turnover reduction strategies. The quantitative research methodology was not appropriate for this study.

When researchers desire to collect qualitative and quantitative data in one project, they employ the mixed-method research design (Fàbregues & Molina-Azorín, 2017). The mixed-methods approach can overcome many limitations of qualitative and quantitative methodologies (Turner et al., 2017). By definition, a researcher must use both quantitative and qualitative research methods in a mixed-method approach. A mixed-methods approach was not appropriate because this study had no quantitative aspects.

Research Design

Phenomenology, ethnography, and case study are the three types of qualitative research designs that I considered. The advantage of a case study is that the researcher can identify patterns and characteristics, investigate, and understand complex issues in real-world settings. (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017; Heale & Twycross, 2018). A multiple-case study allows the researcher to compare multiple cases and gain a more

comprehensive perspective of the research questions (Heale & Twycross, 2018). I chose a multiple-case study design to identify strategies that reduce employee turnover in the warehousing environment.

Researchers use a phenomenological research design to understand the lived experiences of people through careful and thorough data gathering (Bawa & Watson, 2017; Neubauer et al., 2019). The purpose of a phenomenological research methodology is to describe the participants' experiences and how it was experienced (Neubauer et al., 2019). An advantage of phenomenological research design is that it allows a researcher to effectively describe subjective realities, insights, beliefs, motivation, and actions (Qutoshi, 2018). Phenomenological research design was not appropriate for this study. The focus of the study was the strategies that supervisors use to reduce employee turnover, not the lived experiences of the supervisors.

Ethnographic researchers focus on culture and the way of life of a group of people (Fusch et al., 2017). Furthermore, ethnographic researchers learn the feelings, beliefs, and meanings of relationships between people within their culture or respond to a changing phenomenon (Fusch et al., 2017). If the basis of the study were the lived experiences of employees affected by turnover reduction policies, the ethnographic design would be appropriate. Because I sought to explore turnover reduction strategies employed by supervisors, ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study.

Data saturation is an essential aspect of validity for qualitative studies (Alam, 2021). Due to the Port of Savannah, logistic organizations in southeastern Georgia have experienced unprecedented growth (Georgia Ports Authority, 2018, 2019). Because of the

growth in the area, distribution centers of various sizes have moved into the local area.

Many warehouses in the study area did not have enough supervisors to allow me to reach data saturation. Therefore, including participants from many different distribution centers helped to ensure data saturation.

Data saturation occurs when no new themes appear from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Scholars recognize data saturation as evidence of rigor (Constantinou et al., 2017; Guest et al., 2020). To aid in data saturation, I used multiple sources of data. These sources included interview transcripts, government data, and publicly available company documents. In each interview, I followed the same interview protocol and used the same interview questions.

Population and Sampling

Researchers create sampling plans to specify a sampling method, a sample size, and a procedure for recruiting participants (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). A sampling strategy informs how researchers will choose participants. The sampling method helps researchers gain an in-depth insight into the phenomenon (Gentles & Vilches, 2017). In this study, I chose purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling involves the researcher purposely selecting the sample that will be most informative in answering the research question (Farrugia, 2019; Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Many researchers use purposeful sampling to recruit participants with high levels of expertise and gain a higher response rate (Rahman, 2020).

Data saturation is imperative to ensure validity. Data saturation occurs when no new themes emerge from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Guest et al. (2006) found that

qualitative data saturation occurred within 12 interviews and that basic themes were evident as early as six. To ensure data saturation, I interviewed participants until no new themes emerged.

Moser and Korstjens (2018) found that knowledgeable participants about a phenomenon provide the richest information regarding that phenomenon. I identified supervisors through personal referrals and LinkedIn groups to select participants to interview. The participants for the study were six distribution center supervisors in the state of Georgia who have worked in the role for at least 1 year. These supervisors actively employed strategies to reduce turnover. All potential participants received an email with my contact information, a copy of the informed consent form, and information about the study. Participants provided written acknowledgment via email if they agreed to participate in the study voluntarily.

When this study was conducted, the United States were under social distancing recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that minimized the impact of COVID-19 on individuals. These recommendations included the use of masks, ventilation, hygiene, and space and distance guidelines (Massetti et al., 2022). Social distancing guidelines may remain in place for a time to come (Hill et al., 2021). Face-to-face or virtual communication are options for conducting interviews (Rahman, 2020). Archibald et al. (2019) found that Zoom is preferable for qualitative data collection because it is easy to use, cost-effective, and has data management features and security options. Also, many interview participants rated Zoom above other options such as face-to-face, telephone, and other videoconferencing services, platforms, and products

(Archibald et al., 2019). Therefore, I used virtual communication and in-person interviews to gather data. A virtual or in-person interview was scheduled with each participant considering the dates and times convenient for them. Before the interview, the participant replied to my email to indicate their consent. Any questions or concerns were answered via email or phone.

Ethical Research

Informed consent is a foundational aspect of the relationship between the researcher and the participant that promotes understanding and the voluntary nature of the study (Axson et al., 2017; Rodriguez-Patarroyo et al., 2021). Before the interview, each participant received and replied to the email with the informed consent form. The IRB approval number for this study is 01-13-22-0672534.

Participants retain the right to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty (Fernandez Lynch, 2020). I informed the participants that they should let me know if they desired to withdraw from the study via email or verbally. A reason may be provided if desired but is not required. Participation is voluntary, and at the end of the study, the participants received a modest gift card and a handwritten thank you card.

The *Belmont Report* guides researchers in ethical actions during research. The three principles of the *Belmont Report* are beneficence, justice, and respect for persons (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I followed the guidelines set forth by Walden University's ethical standards and The *Belmont Report* throughout this study. To further ensure the ethical protection of the participants, I asked the same interview questions during each

session. During semistructured interviews, researchers use predetermined questions but can ask clarifying questions to learn more about the response (McGrath et al., 2019). When the opportunity was presented, I asked clarifying questions to gain a deeper understanding of the response given by an individual participant.

Information that is not relevant to the research questions and the theory should be excluded from participant description (Lancaster, 2017). To preserve anonymity, each participant was assigned a unique identifier such as S1, S2, S3, and S4. Researchers must make strides to safeguard confidentiality (Martin-Ferreres et al., 2019). To preserve confidentiality, the names of the participants and companies were included in the final study. To further protect the confidentially of the participants, the data will be securely stored for 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

Qualitative researchers are the primary data collection instrument. According to Yin (2017), qualitative researchers ask relevant questions, listen attentively, adapt to new opportunities, maintain a firm grasp on the study, and professionally conduct the research from an ethical standpoint. Semistructured interviews allow for a structured, flexible method to gather rich data through face-to-face, telephone, email, or virtual meeting software such as Skype and Zoom (Brown & Danaher, 2019; Peesker et al., 2019). The primary data collection method I used was semistructured, in-depth interviews in a virtual and face to face setting. The use of secondary data has become an accepted part of the research process due to a culture of data sharing, open access to scientific data and research, and increased professionalism in education, practice, and research (O'Connor,

2020). The secondary data collection method I used was accessing publicly available documents, data, and documents provided by participants.

The interview protocol and the use of a computer with virtual meeting software are the data collection instruments. An interview protocol (a) helps the researcher stay focused and cover all the relevant topics of the interview, (b) maintains control of the interview, (c) helps to promote natural conversations from the research questions, and (d) provides a way to maintain the flow of the interview (Arsel, 2017). A good interview protocol is critical in gathering rich qualitative information from participants and facilitating the interview process consistently (Yeong et al., 2018). The interview protocol was used for each interview.

According to Weller et al. (2018), open-ended questions help the researcher deeply explore topics, understand specific processes, and identify potential causes of observed correlations. The interview questions are composed of open-ended questions that align with the research question. Zoom is easy to use, inexpensive, efficient for managing data, and secure (Archibald et al., 2019). Interview sessions were conducted in person and via Zoom. Zoom can record audio and video and generate searchable transcripts for each session (Zoom Video Communications, Inc., n.d.). With participant permission, I employed the recording feature of Zoom or a personal recorder to document the audio and video of the interview.

Validity and reliability can increase transparency and decrease researcher bias in qualitative research (Mohajan, 2017). Member checking is a standard tool to ensure validity, provide a reflective opportunity for participants to check the accuracy of the

data, and an opportunity to offer reason and additional explanations (Candela, 2019; Varpio et al., 2017). I used member checking and an interview protocol to enhance validity and reliability. Each participant had the opportunity to member check the data summary to verify accuracy and my interpretation. The interview protocol that was followed data collection instruments is in the appendix.

I did not use a pilot study. Lowe (2019) defined a pilot study as a small feasibility study that tests the methods planned for a more significant, more rigorous, or confirmatory investigation. Pilot studies are not meant to answer the research question but to evaluate the methods planned for an investigation (Lowe, 2019). Utilizing a pilot study was not appropriate for this study. The purpose of the study was not to launch a large-scale study but to answer the research question.

Data Collection Technique

An interview protocol guides the interview process. The interview protocol consists of three main sections: a brief introduction, the procedure for establishing informed consent, and interview questions (Arsel, 2017). As society has gained more experience with COVID-19 and social distancing, guidelines continue to evolve. Therefore, interview sessions were virtual, and one member checking session was in person. Gray et al. (2020) found that qualitative interview participants thought that Zoom was convenient and easy to use, promoted the discussion of personal topics due to the interface, accessible from different types of devices, and saved time.

Yin (2017) explained that interviews should be in a comfortable, quiet environment free from distractions. The participant chose the environment. Interview

participants can face problematic issues that affect virtual interviews (Joshi et al., 2020). Before the meeting, guidance was given on choosing an optimal environment for maximizing audio and video quality in virtual interviews. Each participant received the informed consent form before the interview via email. The informed consent form included the background and purpose of the study, the expected length of the interview, a voluntary disclaimer, risk and benefits for participants, an incentive statement, privacy information, and instructions for asking questions before starting the interview.

Participants responded to the email with the words "I consent." I reviewed the consent form again at the beginning of the interview.

Arsel (2017) recommends that researchers avoid proper unstructured interviews and ensure the interviews have a structure and focus. My interview protocol details what I did and said throughout the interview process. The interview protocol was comprised of three main parts: (a) a simple description of the purpose of the interview, (b) a concise explanation of the interview procedure with an invitation to the interviewee to ask questions about the study and procedures as well as the procedure for establishing informed consent, and (c) the interview questions.

Qualitative interviews are used as a data collection method that is appropriate for understanding the interviewee's subjective perspective of a phenomenon (McGrath et al., 2019). I used semistructured interviews to secure the participant's perspectives. Openended questions can provide access to specific participant insights (Singar & Couper, 2017). To answer the research question, I asked open-ended questions. Each interview will have audio and video recorded by the Zoom software. Zoom can record audio and

video and generate searchable transcripts for each session (Zoom Video Communications, Inc., n.d.). Recordings of interview sessions are more precise than handwritten notes (Yin, 2017).

After the data were collected, I checked the accuracy of the Zoom transcription with the audio and video recording. Participants can check the accuracy of the data through member checking (Candela, 2019). After the interview, I transcribed the interview data into a Word document. The results of the interview were summarized for the member-checking process. The summary results were emailed to the participant, and a follow-up meeting was scheduled to review and discuss the accuracy of the summary. If the participant disagreed with the summary, I was prepared to offer a subsequent meeting for further discussion.

Triangulation enhances validity through the convergence of findings, sources, or methods (Farquhar et al., 2020). Secondary documents were used to achieve triangulation. I identified appropriate documents through a web search. I also asked the participants to provide appropriate supporting documents that align with their responses with the caveat that they are publicly available.

Semistructured interviews are advantageous and disadvantageous to qualitative researchers. Semistructured interviews allow researchers to collect open-ended data, explore participant thoughts, feelings, and beliefs about a particular topic and deeply explore personal or sensitive issues (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Interviews also have disadvantages. Researchers must have skills and practice in interviews to be effective (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Semistructured interviews require a relatively

extensive commitment of time and resources from the researcher and the participant (Adhabi & Anozie, 2017).

Data Organization Technique

Researchers use data from multiple sources to identify patterns in interviews and keep accurate data records (Twining et al., 2017; Yin, 2017). I collected audio and video interview files, transcripts, organizational documents, and member-checked documents. Martin-Ferreres et al. (2019) stated that researchers must make strides to safeguard participant confidentiality. Audio and video interview files were assigned a file name that corresponds with the unique identifier of each participant and the date of the interview. All paper documents were scanned and stored on a USB drive. The paper documents were shredded upon scanning. The electronic files were named according to the document's title and the business from which it originates.

NVivo is a software that allows researchers to store, manage, query, and analyze unstructured data, including text, images, audio, video, and other data types (Phillips & Lu, 2018). All data types were loaded into NVivo to assist with developing, categorizing, and organizing codes. The electronic data were stored on the USB and deleted from the computer's main hard drive. The USB will be stored in a locked safe within my home office for 5 years after the study is published. After 5 years, the USB drive will be destroyed.

Data Analysis

Leo (2019) stated that data analysis aims to reduce collected data in a continuous process by organizing or coding, comparing, and interpreting the data. The interview data

consisted of participant interview transcripts, handwritten notes, audio and video recordings, and miscellaneous company documents. Using the data analysis process, I member checked the data, condensed the data into themes, and triangulated the data.

I used thematic analysis during the data analysis process. Thematic analysis is a method that helps researchers to identify, analyze, and report patterns in a set of data (Scharp & Sanders, 2019). The researcher can closely examine different viewpoints of participants, evaluate similarities and differences, generate unanticipated insights, summarize key features of an extensive data set, provide an organizational structure to the data, and help to produce a clear and organized final report (Nowell et al., 2017). Braun and Clarke (2006) outlined a thematic analysis method composed of six steps to promote deliberate and rigorous research. I employed the six steps of thematic analysis to process the interview data. The six steps that I followed were (a) becoming familiar with the data, (b) generating coding categories, (c) generating themes, (d) reviewing themes, (e) defining and naming themes, and (e) producing the report. Following the six steps provided a logical and sequential process for the data analysis.

Step 1: Familiarization with the Data

Qualitative researchers must immerse themselves in the data by taking and reviewing notes, identifying patterns and themes to develop a coding framework (Cleland, 2017). I reviewed the data from both the interviews and the documents. The data was also reviewed extensively through transcription and the process of loading the data into NVivo. A researcher will become familiar with the data through repeated and

active reading (Kiger & Varpio, 2020). I became familiar with the data through reading and rereading the data while taking notes on possible codes and themes.

Step 2: Generation of Coding Categories

Coding data allows the researchers to identify the characteristics of the data through interaction and reflection (Nowell et al., 2017). Computer-assisted qualitative data software, such as NVivo 13, can increase the speed of data analysis, help with more rigorous analysis, allow for more consistent coding, and allow for a deeper analysis of the data. (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Cypress, 2019). I used NVivo to generate codes for the data.

Step 3: Generation of Themes

According to Braun and Clarke (2006), researchers use the coded data to develop themes in the third phase of thematic analysis. Themes are actively created by the researcher and correlate data that may not be connected and capture the implicit meaning of the data (Clarke & Braun, 2018). I used the coded data to construct common themes and sub-themes that align with the research questions.

Step 4: Review of Themes

The fourth step in the thematic analysis is reviewing themes. Reviewing themes is a process in which the researcher reviews and revises the codes and themes of the data (Kiger & Varpio, 2020). I reviewed and fine-tuned the themes and codes to achieve alignment with the research question.

Step 5: Definition and Naming of Themes

The fifth step is to define and name the themes. Researchers should determine why the themes are important and how they fit into the story the theme tells (Nowell et al., 2017). Themes are patterns that capture essential information about the research questions (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). When identifying the essence of the themes, I ensured the correlation with the literature. I reviewed the themes to determine the underlying meanings concerning the research question.

Step 6: Production of the Report

Producing the report is the final step of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Scharp & Sanders, 2019). The report's contents should be concise, consistent, logical, nonrepetitive, and engaging (Nowell et al., 2017). The report must support the themes identified in the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). After the data was coded, grouped into themes, and analyzed, I reported the findings.

Reliability and Validity

The quality and rigor of a study are established through reliability and validity (Cypress, 2017; Hayashi et al., 2019). Mohajan (2017) stated that reliability and validity are fundamental instruments to reduce bias in research. Reliability and validity are important to qualitative research (Spiers et al., 2018). Researchers use credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability to assess reliability, validity, and trustworthiness (Cypress, 2017; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Soroush et al., 2018).

Reliability

Reliability ensures that the results are consistent over time by reducing errors and biases (Hayashi et al., 2019; Yin, 2017). Reliability is used to address dependability in qualitative research. Implementing specific methods, such as member checking, an interview protocol, and triangulation, enhance dependability. Member checking can increase the study's credibility, increase the research's fidelity, and further include the participants in the research (Iivari, 2018). All participants were provided the opportunity to verify, clarify, or elaborate on the interpretation of their answers. Consistency in the administration of interviews is achieved using an interview protocol (Yeong et al., 2018). The interview protocol (see Appendix) was used for each interview.

Validity

In qualitative research, validity can be synonymous with rigor, and without rigor, the research would be considered worthless (Hayashi et al., 2019). Validity supports data appropriateness which enhances the accuracy of the participant experiences (Spiers et al., 2018). Validity can be demonstrated through credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation (FitzPatrick, 2019; Hennink & Kaiser, 2020).

Credibility refers to the degree the study results are accurate and align with the purpose of the research and the experiences of the participants (Soroush et al., 2018). Credibility can be demonstrated through prolonged engagement, persistent observation, triangulation, and member checking (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Researchers draw out responses and actively engage the participant during the interview process (Roberts, 2020). I ensured prolonged engagement through semistructured interviews and asking

probing questions. Persistent observation is achieved by examining the data, developing codes and themes, reading, rereading the data, and analyzing the data (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The thematic analysis method comprises six steps that help researchers conduct research deliberately and rigorously (Braun & Clarke, 2006). I employed the six steps of thematic analysis to process the interview data. Triangulation can be achieved by using multiple research approaches (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I employed the thematic analysis method outlined by Braun and Clarke. To achieve methodological triangulation, I conducted semistructured interviews, took notes, digitally recorded the interviews, and examined government employment data and secondary documents. All participants had the opportunity to member check the interpretation of the data. Heesen et al. (2019) stated that methodological triangulation is advantageous because using multiple methods to reach a conclusion is better than using a singular method. Methodological triangulation can reinforce the dependability of the research (Fusch et al., 2018). I conducted semistructured interviews, took notes, digitally recorded the interviews, and examined government employment data and secondary documents to achieve methodological triangulation.

The researcher's responsibility is to achieve transferability by providing thick descriptions so that researchers can determine if the results apply to other situations (Maxwell, 2021; Soroush et al., 2018). Soroush et al. (2018) suggest that thick descriptions describe behavior, experiences, and the context of those behaviors and experiences. According to Moon (2019), triangulation is a method to increase transferability. I increased transferability by using different methods to collect data,

conducting a multiple-case study, interviewing various participants, and using different data sources.

Confirmability occurs when the researcher and participants have a high degree of agreement concerning the accuracy and relevance of the meanings of the data (Soroush et al., 2018). Each interview participant was provided the opportunity to member check the interpretation of their interview data. Korstjens and Moser (2018) explained that confirmability relates to the neutrality of the study. An effective strategy to ensure confirmability is an audit trail so an auditor can study the transparency of the research (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I provided a comprehensive account of the research process. Each step of compiling, organizing, and analyzing the data was reported within the study.

Data saturation can improve the validity of a study and is often used to assess the quality of the study (Hennink & Kaiser, 2020). Data saturation is reached when no new themes or codes emerge from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021). I ensured data saturation by interviewing participants until no new themes occurred. To further aid in data saturation, I used multiple sources of data. These sources will include interview transcripts, government data, and publicly available company documents.

Transition and Summary

At the beginning of Section 2, I restated the purpose statement. In this section, I explained the role of the researcher and detailed information about the participants. Next, I explained the research method and design, a justification of the participants, and a discussion about ethical research. Finally, I described the data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, and strategies to

ensure the reliability and validity of this study. In Section 3, I presented the research findings, provided an application to professional practice, reviewed the social change implications, and suggested recommendations for action and further research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The participants consisted of six general supply chain supervisors who managed employees in Georgia warehouses and had implemented successful turnover reduction strategies. To answer the research question, I conducted semistructured interviews via Zoom and reviewed publicly available organizational documents. After each interview, I transcribed responses for accuracy, then summarized for data analysis and member checking. The transcribed interview responses were uploaded into NVivo. The findings from this research show three distinct areas that managers can address to reduce turnover in warehousing organizations: (a) employee relationships, (b) training and opportunities to perform, and (c) salary. Section 3 includes the presentation of the findings, discussion of the study's application to the professional environment and implications for positive social change, recommendations for action and research, reflections, and a conclusion to the study.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was, What strategies do warehouse supervisors use to reduce turnover? I conducted semistructured interviews via Zoom and in person. Finally,I reviewed organizational documents to answer the research question. The participants were six warehouse supervisors who worked in Georgia. Braun and Clarke (2006) developed a thematic analysis method composed of six steps. I employed the six steps from Braun and Clarke to analyze the data, generate the coding categories and

themes, and recognize patterns in the data. I used NVivo 12 for coding, mind-mapping, and identifying themes. The findings suggest that successful supervisors focus on (a) employee relationships, (b) training and opportunities to perform, and (c) salary.

Theme 1: Employee Relationships

The first theme that became apparent from the data was employee relationships. Trust-based social exchange relationships are developed when servant leaders show concern for followers and treat them fairly (Elche et al., 2020). Organizational performance can degrade because of bad relationships between employees and employers; therefore, managers must create and maintain a good relationship with their employees (Samwel, 2018). Every participant spoke about developing and maintaining employee relationships, and this theme comprised 46% of all responses. Based on the data analysis, two subthemes of employee relationships emerged from the data: communication and knowing the employees (see Table 1). Included in those responses were the subthemes of communication (21%), knowing the employees (17%), and other (8%).

Table 1Percentage of Responses with References to Employee Relationships Theme and Subthemes

Key construct	%
Employee relationships (overall	46
theme)	
Communication (subtheme)	21
Knowing the employees (subtheme)	17
Other	8

Communication

Communication skills are imperative to obtaining positive outcomes (Chater & Courtenay, 2019). Each supervisor in the study remarked that supervisors must take the time to interact and talk to subordinates. S1 and S3 spoke about the necessity for supervisors to explain the expectations of the job and the policies and procedures. S3 does not assume that the workers fully understand the policies. S3 reported reviewing human resource policies about the treatment of others on a weekly basis. S1 emphasized communicating that every job constantly changes in the warehouse, and workers must be flexible and adjust accordingly.

One way that all participants communicated with employees was through daily morning meetings. Daily morning meetings can improve communication with staff and increase efficiency without taking value work time (Paleri et al., 2021; Panayiotou et al., 2020). Morning meetings should be at the same time each day, be brief, and be completed in about 20 minutes (Schatz & Bergren, 2022). Each participant reported using morning meetings to communicate with employees about organizational policy, safety, employee issues, and forecasting. Some supervisors use a morning meeting template, while others create daily lists to guide communication. Based on the morning meeting template supplied by the participants and the responses given, successful supervisors cover daily tasks and assignments, group performance feedback, announcements, forecasted workload, safety issues and reminders, acknowledgments, and employee questions.

Communication from leadership is critical in earning followers' trust and acceptance in the workplace (Usadolo & Usadolo, 2019). Supervisors have an essential role in organizational communication. S1 said

a lot of times, a supervisor is the person that is between the employee and upper management. So that person has to be able to deliver the message both ways, upper and downward, to the employees in the corporate to make it a smooth transition of any kind of information.

S1 submitted a training document for effective communication. The documentation detailed several tools that help supervisors gain a better understanding, buy-in, and decision-making from employees. The tools included huddle meetings, visual communication boards, monthly planning, quarterly updates, and annual reviews.

Another similarity that surfaced was being honest with employees. S2 expressed that when supervisors lose trust in the leadership, they will lose trust in the company. This loss of trust eventually leads to increased rates of turnover. S4 spoke about respecting followers by being upfront and honest with them. Positive feedback from supervisors is a tool that can affect the performance and attitude of employees (Su & Xiao, 2022). Su and Xiao (2022) stated that positive feedback demonstrates respect for subordinates and that employees perceive the feedback as recognition, encouragement, and support. S4 said,

Because most times, people just quit, they quit and leave jobs. Well, at first, it seems like it's about the money. But in actuality, that's only a small part of it; they

just want to feel like they're important and feel like they're treated well. And that they're not just objects.

S5 said that the strategy that works is connecting with people on a more emotional level in addition to incentives.

Daily communication and performance feedback can increase employee motivation and shape employee attitudes (Lee et al., 2019). Every participant agreed that regular communication and feedback are crucial to reducing turnover. To obtain the full benefits of feedback, supervisors should identify positive behavior and results that originate from their knowledge, skills, or talents (Rony et al., 2020). S1 suggested that supervisors should try to give positive feedback to all subordinates. S1 said,

there's something about every employee that they do, right. So, try to, of course, address when they do something wrong, but find something daily that you can say to them that they're doing right, even if it's putting a seatbelt on, on that forklift, or picking up a pallet or slowing down honking their horn, just say something positive to them. So, it keeps them motivated and know that you're paying attention to them and makes them feel, you know, like, they're part of the team, and you care about their what they're doing.

According to the participants, positive feedback aids in creating positive motivation and a positive work environment. S2 stated that constant negative feedback without positive feedback leads to negative feelings within followers and eventually turnover. One participant submitted a feedback document that included sections for positive feedback, negative feedback, and an action plan.

Execution of change is the responsibility of employees, and these changes can result in employee turnover (Srivastava & Agrawal, 2020). Change communication is crucial in reducing negative feelings and increasing willingness to contribute positively to change (Haqq, 2021). S1, S2, and S4 responded that resistance to change was a barrier to reducing the rate of turnover. The respondents shared how they minimize the effects of resistance to change. The servant leader's concern for people's well-being effectively manages resistance to change (Khatri & Dutta, 2018). S1 said that some organizations focus on the bottom line, so the goals constantly change to support those goals. Specifically, S1 remarked that resistance comes from above and below. As a result, some employees resist the change in several ways. S1 and S2 spoke about how some employees will slow down on production, improperly do tasks, and influence newer employees negatively. The participants said that solutions to resistance to change include preparing the employees for changes as soon as possible, training employees for the upcoming changes, communicating the purpose for the changes, and reviewing how they can improve the processes.

Knowing the Employees

One of the main factors that affect job satisfaction, employee performance, positive psychology, and the development of subordinates is the relationship between supervisors and subordinates (Tsitmideli et al., 2016). Each participant remarked that taking the time to know workers assisted them in discovering the type of employee each person is and how to best improve their skillset abilities and attitude. S2 said,

Well, first of off, I take it upon myself to get to know individual workers and try to find out how I can personally invest them in how and get them to be personally invested in the company and what we do.

Formal and informal mentoring opportunities can accelerate employee growth (Parfitt & Rose, 2020). S6 stated that they met with each permanent employee and used a list of questions to discover mentoring opportunities. These discovery questions covered experience, skills and knowledge, training goals, personal contribution statement, and future goals.

The participants described three different types of employees. The first is an employee who only wants to come to work, do their job, and go home. They are not interested in growth within the organization or leadership but only doing what they are hired to do. When asked about this type of employee, S3 responded that some of these people are the best employees. They do what is asked of them effectively with minimal supervision. The second type of employee searches for an opportunity to grow and gain skills to improve their value to the organization. S1 said,

just because they're doing a manual labor job does not mean they don't have the potential to be something better than what they are or, I mean, they could be comfortable in that, and that's fine. But there might be that diamond in the rough, or someone just needs that extra education or something else to actually do more. The third is the person who does not care about anything but getting a paycheck. S5 said,

"And that's basically what it is. It's just there's no care. So, they don't care about their job or anything; really, they just want to come for a paycheck. That's that."

Leaders should see employees as human beings, and employees' personal problems should be regarded (Varolgunes et al., 2018). Employees do not want to be treated as machines. They want validation and recognition for good work. S4 said, "A lot of that is how they're being treated. Often after the pay goes away, you know, not where the pay is, actually, how are they being treated on a daily basis, you got to treat them human." Employee personal problems can harm work performance.

Maintaining positive employee relationships can improve performance (Samwel, 2018). Negros (2022) found that managers can build deeper employee relationships through empathy. S4 mentioned that some employees might portray an abrasive, negative attitude, but they have had a rough time in life for a long time. Approaching them in a different empathic way can yield better results. There is a limit to how empathic a leader should be. S4 also told a story about an employee:

I had a young lady who was hired and supposed to come in at a certain time. After starting work, she couldn't come in at the assigned time. And she was doing a pretty decent job. So, I talked to the temp agency. People kind of overlook that a little bit. Once she gets over one hurdle, things will be better. And you know, you give and give, and you give, you loosen up that rope a little bit. I said, hey, I know you're supposed to come in at this time. But understand you can't make it until this time. Well, that time changed into another time. And this time, get backed up to another time. Well, hey, look, it can't happen like that. Well, you did this before. Yeah, but that's because you had a certain circumstance; you got to understand that this is a job. And this is me having a conversation with this young

lady. And then it is okay, that first couple of weeks, you know, it's like, you want to be there. And then whatever's going on outside, it starts kind of trickling on into the job, which you? Yeah, I'm trying to help you work with it. But at the same time, hey, you got a job to do. And sometimes you got to understand to take whatever you're going through; sometimes they have to get put on the back burner.

Managers must find the balance between being empathic and jeopardizing the organization. S5 emphasized the centrality of the manager's relationship with their team members. S5 said,

Um, you know, really, I mean, it all basically just, you know, like I was saying earlier, boils down to the relationships with your people. Just be there. Don't, you know; life happens; you can't let people walk all over you. But at the same time, be on the level with them to where if their kid gets sick, they'll call you and say, hey, you know, my kids are sick. Now, if kids get sick every day, or four or five times a week, and they are never there, just sit down and have a conversation with them and help them figure out what's best for them. You have to work with people. Because, you know, like I said, life happens. And I think a lot of managers don't like to do that.

Theme 2: Training and Opportunities to Perform

The second theme apparent from the data was training and opportunities to perform. Two subthemes emerged from the data: training and opportunities to perform.

Training availability and learning motivation can influence employee turnover intention

(Qaisar Danish et al., 2019). A central theme in common with all the participants was cross training. Every participant contended that cross training is beneficial to the company and the employee. According to S2, one way that cross training is advantageous to the company is the increased versatility of the employee. The participants referred to situations where the organization can pivot to compensate for absent employees or abrupt changes. Each participant gave an example of how cross training benefits employees by building their skill set. They also stated that cross training would serve them with the present company or the next. S5 gave an example of how cross training simultaneously helps the organization and the employee. In the example, the employees learned how to operate various pieces of equipment and the manual labor part of the job. When the warehouse was behind schedule, employees could work where the need was the greatest. Also, employees who desired to earn additional pay were allowed to work in any area on days when they were not scheduled to work. S5 described this as a win-win situation. The employee had the opportunity to earn additional income, and the company was able to meet shipment goals.

According to Ludwikowska (2018), the supervisors use training needs analysis to determine how best to plan employee training. A training needs analysis identifies gaps between current and desired results and selects the most appropriate methods to eliminate the gap and enhance employee efficiency by acquiring knowledge and skills and improving on existing expertise (Ludwikowska, 2018). One way that supervisors enhanced their cross-training efforts was by using a training matrix (see Table 2). The training matrix allowed the supervisor to accurately track what area or equipment in

which each employee was trained. S6 used the training matrix to help create well-rounded employees. S6 said,

as people get more cross trained, and more developed, and other areas throughout the, you know, warehousing industry or the company, the more beneficial they are to the company, and the quicker it is to kind of bump them up. And you know, the more knowledge you acquire, the more beneficial you are. And more knowledge is a lot of times, promotions, and other things.

Table 2

Training Matrix

Title	Forklift	Reach	Clamp	Pick	QC	Load	Rec	Inv	Put.
WHSE lead	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
CSS				Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
WHSE clerk	Yes								
Material. Handler				Yes		Yes			Yes
Operator	Yes		Yes						
Inventory	Yes			Yes		Yes			

Note. WHSE = warehouse; QC = quality control; Rec = receiving; Inv = inventory; Put = put away; CSS = customer service staff

An effective manager allows subordinates to take responsibility for the day-to-day operations and make daily decisions (Bans-Akutey, 2020). S1 and S3 identified employee autonomy as key to knowing if specific employee improvement strategies are working.

After reviewing goals for the day, they both spoke about the employee's taking ownership of the operation and achieving the task without supervisor interference. S3 discussed allowing employees with minimal experience in another area to work in those areas. If the employee performs well in the new site, S3 will recommend a transfer if the

employee desires. Another option was to allow the employee to work in the other department when needed. When S6 regularly updates the training matrix with notes to track employee opportunities to perform in the area in which they were trained.

Theme 3: Salary

Employee compensation is quantifiable rewards that employees earn for work performed and affects motivation, loyalty, performance, and turnover intention (Prasetio et al., 2019). Prasetio et al. stated that compensation includes base pay, pay incentives, and indirect compensation and benefits. An adequate reward system is composed of strategies and policies to reward employees fairly, equitably, and consistently based on their value to the organization (Jones & White, 2021). According to the participants, ensuring employees are adequately compensated is essential to reducing turnover. S1 noted

the pay does not have to be outrageous, but it has to be in the means of where all the other warehouses are or to make them comfortable and make sure they're getting what they can for what the job they have to do.

According to the Workforce Statistics & Economic Research Occupational Employment Statistics and Wages Program. (n.d.) the median salary for warehouse workers in Georgia is \$18.73. The participants provided forklift operator job descriptions from their respective employers. Nine of the 10 positions had a starting pay of at least \$17.00 per hour. Table 3 shows an analysis of local job descriptions for forklift operators. The job descriptions show that the salary for the jobs is similar, but the organizations offer additional compensation and benefits.

 Table 3

 Advertised Salary and Benefits for Forklift Operators at Participants' Organizations

		Organization								
Feature	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Hourly wage	\$15-	\$17.50-	\$17	\$17-	\$18.40	\$17	\$18.59	\$18-18.50	\$17	\$20
	16	20.50		20						
Temporary to permanent		Yes	Yes							
Insurance	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Referral program	Yes						Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Bonus pay	Yes					Yes		Yes	Yes	Yes
401(k)		Yes		Yes		Yes	Yes			Yes
Next day pay		Yes								
Employee discounts		Yes								
Paid time off							Yes		Yes	

Salary has a U-shaped relationship with turnover. Ryu and Jinnai (2021) found that compensation has a positive relationship with turnover up to a point, and then the relationship is negative. Employees that start with low wages are positively influenced by increases in pay. For those with a higher salary, increases alone are not a motivator to stay on the job but must be combined with pay incentives and indirect compensation and benefits to be effective. Each participant provided a job description that detailed starting pay as well as additional compensation (see Table 4). S4 said, "Paying employees more does not work unless additional incentives and extrinsic rewards are added." S2 spoke about the organization giving pay raises to employees based on extraordinary performance throughout the year. S6 said that nearby organizations pay a rate of about \$3.00 above the median and another pays an additional .50 per hour for coming to work on time. These extrinsic rewards can include company parties, giveaways, raffles,

employee of the month awards, fair treatment daily, opportunities to learn new things, and general concern for their well-being. Participants S1, S2, S4, S5, and S6 said that making employees feel valued and treating them like humans in conjunction with proper salary levels reduces turnover.

 Table 4

 Salary and Additional Compensation at Participants' Organizations

			Incentive a	at participa	nt's org	anization	1	
Participant	Hourly	Temp	Insurance	Referral	Bonus	401(k)	Next	Employee
	wage	to		program	pay		day	discounts
		perm					pay	
S1	\$15.00 -							
	16.00		Yes	Yes	Yes			
S2	\$17.50-							
	20.50	Yes	Yes			Yes	Yes	Yes
S3	\$17.00	Yes	Yes					
S4	\$17-20		Yes			Yes		
S5	\$18.40		Yes					
S6	\$17		Yes		Yes	Yes		

Note. Temp to perm = temporary to permanent.

Alignment With Conceptual Framework

The findings of this study are consistent with the key constructs of servant leadership. Servant leadership is a form of leadership where the leader focuses on the followers' needs and seeks to address the employee's need to grow, develop, and prosper (Canavesi & Minelli, 2021; Song et al., 2021). The responses of the participants align with the constructs of servant leadership (see Table 5). The theme of employee relationships aligns with awareness, listening, empathy, healing, stewardship, and building community. The theme of training and opportunities to perform connects to empathy, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, commitment

to the growth of followers. The theme of salary is correlated with listening, empathy, awareness, persuasion, stewardship, commitment to the growth of followers.

 Table 5

 References to Servant Leader Constructs in Participant Responses

Key construct	No.	0/0
Awareness	27	13
Community building	20	9
Commitment to the growth	47	22
of followers		
Conceptualization	16	8
Empathy	18	8
Foresight	34	16
Healing	8	4
Listening	6	3
Persuasion	17	8
Stewardship	20	9
Total	213	100

Applications to Professional Practice

This study is based on successful servant leaders' strategies to reduce turnover in their organizations. According to scholars, supervisors play a significant positive role in the retention of employees (Iqbal et al., 2020; Muhammad et al., 2020). Supervisors can reduce the effects of voluntary and involuntary turnover on the organization by incorporating the strategies outlined in this study.

Many employees left their jobs in what many scholars call The Great Resignation (Sull et al., 2022). The Great Resignation has caused an increase in costs and a reduction in efficiency for organizations. When an employee leaves the company, voluntarily or involuntarily, the organization must bear the cost and experience a reduced work output (Chakraborty et al., 2021; Dobrosavljević & Urošević, 2021). Sull et al. found that the

leading cause for turnover during The Great Resignation was a toxic organizational culture, and both white and blue-collar were equally affected. The characteristics of servant leaders caused employees to embrace the organization's needs and help improve employee performance (Ross et al., 2020). Supervisors can significantly reduce the rate of turnover and enhance organizational culture.

This study's results can be used by organizational leaders to help improve the organization's competitive advantage. Employees are vital to warehouse operational efficiency, especially in labor-intensive environments (Ramli et al., 2017). Ramli et al. (2017) found that taking steps to improve human capital results in a moderate increase in warehouse operations performance. Skilled, trained employees are vital for sustained competitive advantage in many organizations (Butt et al., 2020). Frontline leaders are positioned to improve their competitive edge through their interactions with subordinates. The servant leaders in this study produced skilled, trained employees through intentional interactions and intimate knowledge of the subordinate. By incorporating the strategies from the servant leaders in the study, supervisors can indirectly give the organization a competitive advantage by improving employees through communication, training, and advocating for a reasonable salary.

Implications for Social Change

When the employee turnover rate is high, the government collects less tax revenue, and the ability to support specific public programs decreases (Hoffman & Howard, 2017; Vasquez, 2014). The findings of this qualitative case study may

contribute to positive social change by helping employers cultivate a more stable labor force that positively contributes to the community.

The results of this study have positive ramifications for social change through increased employment opportunities. Poverty in many surrounding communities is a problem. Rural areas in the south have large collections of counties with continuously high poverty levels (Lewis & DiFurio, 2021). When jobs and income grow, poverty decreases (Lewis & DiFurio, 2021). When supervisors use the strategies in this study, they help jobs and income grow, therefore influencing growth in the company. The increased organizational growth can result in increased employment opportunities.

Job growth in the warehousing and transportation industry in Georgia is near the top of job growth rankings from 2018 to 2028 (Georgia Department of Labor's Workforce Statistics and Economic Research Division, 2019). An increasing number of available employment opportunities are in Georgia's transportation and warehousing industry. Many of these opportunities are for non-skilled and semi-skilled positions. Employees can grow within a company and learn valuable skills that can increase the salary that they employee earn.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022), employees working in warehousing and storage earn a mean hourly wage of \$19.43, which exceeds the federal minimum wage of \$7.25 per hour (Georgia Department of Labor, n.d.). People in this field are expected to earn more in the upcoming years. Reducing turnover rates can improve the quality of life for those people, their families, and the communities through

steady employment and income growth. Therefore, they will be better equipped to care for their families and contribute to the surrounding communities.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this study was to discover strategies that successful supervisors use to reduce turnover. Supervisors should pay attention to the results. They will gain insight on how to better relate with their subordinates and reduce organizational turnover. Training and development departments should pay attention to these results. They will gain insight into the development of training programs for floor supervisors. Upper-level leaders of warehousing organizations should pay attention to these results so that they may be better able to empower supervisors to help reduce turnover. There are two main areas in that organizations could focus efforts to reduce turnover. The first is an investment in the training and development of floor-level supervisors based on the competencies of servant leadership. The second is exploring employee development opportunities. According to Holt et al. (2018), effective leadership development programs have a specific curriculum, a minimum time limit that spans a minimum of 2 years, and mixed delivery of group learning and online delivery. I propose a training and development program encompassing the following parameters.

Curriculum

The purpose of this study was to find the strategies that successful supervisors use to reduce turnover. A correlation exists between the findings of this study and the constructs of servant leadership. Therefore, the results of the study influence the

leadership development curriculum. The tenets of the curriculum are empathy, communication, and awareness.

Empathy happens when leaders strive to empathize with others through understanding another person's perspective and mental state (Cahyono et al., 2020; Coetzer et al., 2017; Dutta & Khatri, 2017; Malhotra, 2019; Spears, 2010). Instructors can teach long-term changes in empathic behavior through targeted psychological interventions (Weisz et al., 2020). One of the most effective approaches for adults to learn empathy is through immersive and experiential simulations that focus on vulnerable groups coupled with opportunities for guided reflection (Levett-Jones et al., 2019). To improve empathy training, the participants should role-play situations in mixed groups with opportunities to reflect on the role play.

Communication can increase employee motivation, encourage positive outcomes, shapes attitudes, and helps to develop employee trust and acceptance (Chater & Courtenay, 2019; Lee et al., 2019; Usadolo & Usadolo, 2019). Therefore, leadership development should include communication. It is essential to learn how to communicate and what to communicate. According to Quejado et al. (2022), people have three learning styles, visual, auditory, and kinesthetic. These learning styles are how individuals absorb, regulate, and process information (Quejado et al., 2022). Supervisors who interact directly with floor-level employees must communicate visual, auditory, and kinesthetic to ensure understanding. Supervisors can use these learning modalities to share organizational policies, positive and negative feedback, and mentoring opportunities.

Leaders must develop and maintain a strong leadership identity, self-awareness, a growth mindset, and a sense of purpose (Roux & Härtel, 2018). Internal and external self-awareness is vital to the development of a leader. Internal self-awareness is how leaders understand themselves and how they impact others (Barry & McManigle, 2021). External self-awareness refers to how leaders understand how others see them (Barry & McManigle, 2021). When leaders know themselves and their employees, coupled with empathy training, they can make better decisions. Supervisors can use leadership assessments such as The DiSC personality test, insights discovery assessment, Myers—Briggs type indicator, and Clifton Strengths to develop awareness and acknowledge biases (Pierre & Okstad, 2021). Supervisors must also be aware that employees fit into the organization's mission and vision and how the organizations fit into the employees' lives. These actions will help the supervisor better understand how to handle problems derived from workplace ethics and values.

Employee Development

Providing opportunities to develop employees is an effective way to increase employees' performance and reduce turnover (Nerstad et al., 2018). There are four areas that organizations should concentrate focus: identifying employees for training opportunities, implementing a training matrix, tracking performance, and salary comparison. These actions will help organizations to reduce turnover.

The first step is to identify employees for training opportunities. Training for supervisors should include how to mentor their subordinates. The first step is to interview each permanent employee using a questionnaire that identifies prior skills, knowledge,

experience, and growth plans. Supervisors should review and update the answers to the questions as often as employees have performance reviews.

The second step is to utilize a training matrix. Using the training matrix will ensure that each employee is trained on each piece of equipment and each job in the warehouse. Supervisors must make time throughout the year for cross training.

Employees are more likely to stay with an organization if the pay is higher or equal to similar organizations (Ryu & Jinnai, 2021). Organizations must ensure the fair compensation of all employees. Three actions are recommended: benchmarking salaries, listening to the employees, performance tracking, and rewards

- Benchmarking salaries: Benchmarking occurs when organizations estimate each position's upper and lower wages at a specific company (Meng et al., 2018). Meng et al. (2018) described the classic benchmarking method as creating a job-company matrix that includes salary and position. The results should be reviewed with a consistent frequency.
- Listening to the employees: Employees will often voice concerns about pay
 concerning work performed. Supervisors should listen to employees when
 they complain about pay or quit due to pay. These concerns should be
 researched and considered by organizational leadership. Investing resources in
 benchmarking salaries can reduce concerns about compensation.
- Performance tracking: Allow supervisors to collaborate with employees to create systems to track performance coupled with a clear compensation strategy.

 Rewards: Allow supervisors to award pay, bonus, or positive reward recommendations for employees who work at an above-average level or go above and beyond for special projects.

Due to the limited time available in the warehousing environment, these trainings can be held at weekly meetings in an ongoing manner. By implementing these recommendations, warehousing organizations can actively reduce turnover.

Recommendations for Further Research

Three limitations were identified in this study. The first was that the supervisors all live and work in Georgia. Future studies should expand the geographical location to include various regions of the United States. The second limitation was that face-to-face interviews might not be possible due to the worldwide pandemic caused by COVID-19. During this study, I completed both face-to-face and virtual interviews. A combination of both interview types was more convenient for the participants. Using virtual methods to interview participants made it easier to gain access to the supervisors. Some participants may not be able to use virtual means due to technology limitations. Future studies can use both interview types to gather data from many locations, regardless of distance or situation. The third limitation was the time supervisors can dedicate to an interview and the member-checking process. Using in-person and virtual interviews will allow supervisors to participate during breaks or other free periods. Finally, the past work experience of the researcher in the warehousing industry may affect the interpretation of the findings. Future researchers will be from many different backgrounds and experiences, and the interpretations of their results will vary.

Several opportunities for further research were presented after reviewing the study results. While researching specific studies related to turnover in warehouses, the amount of directly related sources was sparse. Many studies concerning turnover, leadership, servant leadership, salary, communication, and others focus on areas such as education, banking, and healthcare. More studies on turnover, temporary employees, and the unique dynamics of the warehouse environment are needed. When reading studies concerning leadership and turnover, few researchers studied the phenomena from the lens of the employee. Future qualitative studies should focus on employees who have terminated and voluntarily left organizations. There are many studies from the viewpoint of leadership but very few from the employee's perspective.

The results of this study revealed that successful supervisors focus on (a) employee relationships, (b) training and opportunities to perform, and (c) salary. Surprisingly, employee relationships are more impactful in reducing turnover than salary. In a time of increased costs to individuals and a record number of people leaving their positions, it is imperative to discover what motivates people to stay. Future researchers can explore the reason why employees value relationships with their supervisors.

Reflections

I had many reasons for pursuing a DBA degree. I am the father of two teenagers. They look to me for guidance and example. This journey has shown them the effect of hard work, sacrifice, and the value of gaining knowledge. Over the past 6 years, I have dedicated myself to studying organizational leadership. I completed a Master of Business Administration degree and now a DBA. I have encountered many roadblocks that would

have made many others quit. My family has endured prostate cancer, liver cancer, an organ transplant, eye operations, trips to the neighboring state for doctor visits, and COVID-19. Likewise, we had family gatherings, vacations, births, and deaths. The only way to fail is to quit; I wanted to show my children never to quit but persevere.

My goals included making a positive change in my community. While working in a warehouse in a rural area, the workers were primarily from there. The work was difficult manual labor for relatively little pay. A labor service hired the workers. Most of the people that worked in the warehouse were convicted felons, high school dropouts, or both. The longer I worked there, the closer I became to the employees. I discovered they were honest fathers who cared for their families, uncles who wanted to set examples for their nieces and nephews, mothers who were trying to feed their children, and many others. They were people with dreams and aspirations, talents, and specialties. After becoming close to those unable to better themselves, I knew I must find a way to help them.

My experience as an assistant general manager in a warehouse was the root of personal biases, preconceived ideas, and values. My relationship with former employees had the potential to create bias. I saw how the upper management treated their floor-level employees, and the employees shared their thoughts with me. During the data collection and analysis phase, I employed a neutral and professional approach that minimized bias. I relied on an interview protocol to minimize bias and completed member checking with participants before completing the data analysis process.

Completing the study had a profound effect on my thinking. I realized that not every warehousing organization disregarded employees and viewed them as tools to achieve a goal. The study's results showed that successful supervisors view their employees as human and operate with their best interests in mind. What I found surprising is the role that salary played in turnover. One would think that salary makes everything better. In my study results, I demonstrate that employees value relationships and training more than salary.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the strategies that warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover. The business problem was that many warehousing organizations have difficulty reducing the turnover rate of experienced employees. Increased turnover rates represent a severe problem for the local economy due to the rapid expansion and the forecasted growth of the Georgia Ports. The conceptual framework used for this study was servant leadership. Servant leaders improve individuals, teams, and the organization. The literature demonstrates that servant leadership has a positive relationship with employee work engagement, organizational behavior, job satisfaction and negative correlations with worker burnout and employee turnover (Afsar et al., 2018; Coetzer et al., 2017; Jang & Kandampully, 2018; Newman et al., 2017; Thacker et al., 2019). A central component of servant leadership is the leader. The longer workers follow servant leaders, the more positive influence the leader has on them (Thao & Kang, 2020). Therefore, organizations must incorporate the tenets of servant leadership to reduce turnover.

Data were collected using semistructured interviews and document review. I triangulated data to understand successful supervisors' strategies better to reduce turnover. The triangulated data included member checking, training manuals, meeting templates, job descriptions, and tracking documents. The findings of this study suggest that successful supervisors focus on (a) employee relationships, (b) training and opportunities to perform, and (c) salary. Not every supervisor is a servant leader, but they can adapt some tactics that successful supervisors employ. Organizations can invest in additional training for floor supervisors to improve skills in identifying employees for training opportunities, implementing a training matrix, and tracking performance. Finally, organizations should conduct salary comparisons to ensure employees are paid fairly. A specific focus on employee relationships, training, opportunities to perform, and salary can help reduce turnover.

References

- Abdali, F., Mughal, M. R., & Wajidi, F. A. (2020). A critical analysis on organisational growth and managerial turnover. *Global Management Journal for Academic & Corporate Studies*, *10*(2), Article 145.

 http://gmjacs.bahria.edu.pk/index.php/ojs/article/view/145/119
- Abu Bakar, H., & McCann, R. M. (2018). An examination of leader-member dyadic politeness of exchange and servant leadership on group member performance. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *55*(4), 501-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488415597517
- Adedayo, A. (2016). Citations in the introduction and literature review sections should not count for quality. *Performance Measurement and Metrics*, *16*(3), 303-306. https://doi.org/10.1108/PMM-01-2015-0001
- Adhabi, E., & Anozie, C. B. (2017). Literature review for the type of interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 86-97. https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v9i3.11483
- Afsar, B., Cheema, S., & Javed, F. (2018). Activating employee's pro□environmental behaviors: The role of CSR, organizational identification, and environmentally specific servant leadership. *Corporate Social Responsibility & Environmental Management*, 25(5), 904-911. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1506
- Akdol, B., & Arikboga, F. S. (2017). Leader-member exchange as a mediator of the relationship between servant leadership and job satisfaction: A research on Turkish ICT companies. *International Journal of Organizational*

- *Leadership*, 6(4), 525-535. https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2017.60226
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis, and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations & Management*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Alatawi, M. A. (2017). The myth of the additive effect of the transformational leadership model. *Contemporary Management Research*, *13*(1), 19-30. https://doi.org/10.7903/cmr.16269
- Alwahaibi, S. S. O. (2019). Transformational leadership: A review on contemporary issues. *Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, *9*(3), 1398-1413. https://doi.org/0.6007/ijarbss/v9-i3/5804
- An, S.-H. (2019). Employee voluntary and involuntary turnover and organizational performance: Revisiting the hypothesis from classical public administration. *International Public Management Journal*, 22(3), 444-469.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1549629
- Anand, S., Vidyarthi, P., & Rolnicki, S. (2018). Leader-member exchange and organizational citizenship behaviors: Contextual effects of leader power distance and group task interdependence. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(4), 489-500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.11.002
- Andersen, J. A. (2009). When a servant □ leader comes knocking . . . *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 30(1), 4-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730910927070

- Andersen, J. A. (2018). Servant leadership and transformational leadership: From comparisons to farewells. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(6), 762-774. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2018-0053
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.117/1609406919874596
- Arekar, K., Jain, R., Desphande, B., & Sherin, P. (2016). Relationship between individual and structural determinants on job satisfaction–analysis of employee turnover in the Indian context. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, *50*(6), 387-398.

 https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0149
- Arsel, Z. (2017). Asking questions with reflexive focus: A tutorial on designing and conducting interviews. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(4), 939-948. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., de Hooge, I. E., Rohm, H., Normann, A., Bossle, M. B., Grønhøj, A., & Oostindjer, M. (2017). Key characteristics and success factors of supply chain initiatives tackling consumer-related food waste–A multiple case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *155*, 33-45.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.173
- Axson, S. A., Giordano, N. A., Hermann, R. M., & Ulrich, C. M. (2017). Evaluating nurse understanding and participation in the informed consent process. *Nursing Ethics*, *26*(4), 1050-1061. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017740175

- Bans-Akutey, A. (2020). Differentiating micromanagement from effective management:

 A manager's guide. *Global Scientific Journal*, 8(11), 827-833.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/346677877_Differentiating_Micromanagement from Effective Management A Manager's Guide
- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189-1195. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Bao, Y., Li, C., & Zhao, H. (2018). Servant leadership and engagement: A dual mediation model. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *33*(6), 406-417. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-12-2017-0435
- Barry, E. S., & McManigle, J. E. (2021). A self-assessment and peer feedback tool for leader development. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, 18(4), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v18i4.4605
- Basias, N., & Pollalis, Y. (2018). Quantitative and qualitative research in business & technology: Justifying a suitable research methodology. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, 7(1), 91-105. https://www-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1969776018?accountid=14872
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M., Waldman, D. A., Avolio, B. J., & Bebb, M. (1987). Transformational leadership and the falling dominoes effect. *Group & Organization Studies*, *12*(1), 73-87. https://doi.org/10.1177/105960118701200106

- Bavik, A., Bavik, Y. L., & Tang, P. M. (2017). Servant leadership, employee job crafting, and citizenship behaviors: A cross-level investigation. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 58(4), 364-373. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965517719282
- Bawa, P., & Watson, S. L. (2017). A phenomenological study of graduate Chinese students' English writing challenges. *The Qualitative Report, 22*(3), 779-796. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2750
- Begzadeh, S., & Nedaei, M. (2017). The relationship between servant leadership with organizational trust and employee empowerment in the social security organization of Ardabil. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 4(3), 270-281.
- Berkovich, I. (2016). School leaders and transformational leadership theory: Time to part ways?. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *54*(5), 609-622. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-11-2015-0100
- Bhojanna, U., & Srikanth, I. G. (2019). Impact of work-life balance and stress on attrition. *Journal of the Gujarat Research Society*, *21*(10), 1240-1247.
- Bills, M. A. (1925). Social status of the clerical worker and his permanence on the job. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *9*(4), 424-427. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0065881
- Bleiker, J., Morgan-Trimmer, S., Knapp, K., & Hopkins, S. (2019). Navigating the maze:

 Qualitative research methodologies and their philosophical foundations.

 Radiography, 25(1), S4-S8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.008

- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, H. K. S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes. *Nursing Outlook*, 66(2), 180-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(2), 201-216. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *23*(3), 338-349.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082.
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semistructured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76-90.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Buengeler, C., Piccolo, R. F., & Locklear, L. R. (2020). LMX differentiation and group outcomes: A framework and review drawing on group diversity insights. *Journal of Management*, 20(10), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320930813

- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020a). Layoffs and discharges levels and rates by industry and region, not seasonally adjusted. *Economic News Release*.

 https://www.bls.gov/news.release/archives/jolts_03172020.htm
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020b). Layoffs and discharges levels and rates by industry and region, not seasonally adjusted. *Economic News Release*.

 https://www.bls.gov/news.release/jolts.t03.htm
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Burton, L. J., Peachey, J. W., & Wells, J. E. (2017). The role of servant leadership in developing an ethical climate in sport organizations. *Journal of Sport Management*, 31(3), 229-240. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2016-0047
- Butt, A., Lodhi, R. N., & Shahzad, M. K. (2020). Staff retention: a factor of sustainable competitive advantage in the higher education sector of Pakistan. *Studies in Higher Education*, *45*(8), 1584–1604. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1711038
- Cahyono, Y., Jihadi, M., Arifin, Z., Purnamasari, W., Musnaini, Wijoyo, H., Fitriaty,
 Putra, R. S., Putri, R. A., Muliansyah, D., Suryani, P., & Purwanto, A. (2020). Do
 servant leadership influence market performance? Evidence from Indonesian
 pharmacy industries. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(9), 439-451.

 http://doi.org/10.31838/srp.2020.9.62

- Camm, T. W. (2019). The dark side of servant leadership. *The International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, *13*(1), 107-132. https://www.gonzaga.edu/school-of-leadership-studies/departments/ph-d-leadership-studies/international-journal-of-servant-leadership/ijsl-issues/ijsl-volume-13
- Canavesi, A., & Minelli, E. (2021). Servant leadership: A systematic literature review and network analysis. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10672-021-09381-3
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5). 2700-2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2337
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chakraborty, R., Mridha, K., Shaw, R. N., & Ghosh, A. (2021, September). Study and prediction analysis of the employee turnover using machine learning approaches. 2021 IEEE 4th International Conference on Computing, Power and Communication Technologies (GUCON),1-6.

https://doi.org/10.1109/gucon50781.2021.9573759

- Chan, S. C. (2020). Transformational leadership, self-efficacy, and performance of volunteers in non-formal voluntary service education. *Journal of Management Development*, 39(7/8), 929-943. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2020-0078
- Chan, S. W., Ang, S. F., Andleeb, N., Ahmad, M. F., & Zaman, I. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership on organization innovation in the Malaysian manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 8(2), 971-976.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/332780293_The_Influence_of_Transfor_mational_Leadership_on_Organization_Innovation_in_Malaysian_Manufacturing_Industry

- Chanodkar, A., Changle, R., & Mamtani, D. (2020). Prediction of employee turnover in organizations using machine learning algorithms. *Prestige International Journal of Management and Research*, *12*(1), 222-226.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/prediction-employee-turnover-organizations-using/docview/2462680530/se-2
- Chater, A., & Courtenay, M. (2019). Community nursing and antibiotic stewardship: the importance of communication and training. *British Journal of Community*Nursing, 24(7), 338–342. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjcn.2019.24.7.338
- Chiniara, M., & Bentein, K. (2016). Linking servant leadership to individual performance: Differentiating the mediating role of autonomy, competence, and relatedness need satisfaction. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(1), 124-141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.08.004

- Chiniara, M., & Bentein, K. (2018). The servant leadership advantage: When perceiving low differentiation in leader-member relationship quality influences team cohesion, team task performance, and service OCB. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(2), 333-345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.05.002
- Choi, S., Kim, K., & Kang, S. (2017). Effects of transformational and shared leadership styles on employees' perception of team effectiveness. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 45(3), 377-386.

 https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.5805
- Cincala, P. (2018). The value of servant leadership. *The Journal of Applied Christian Leadership*, *12*(1), 4-7. https://digitalcommons.andrews.edu/jacl/vol12/iss1/2
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2018). Using thematic analysis in counselling and psychotherapy research: A critical reflection. *Counselling & Psychotherapy Research*, 18(2), 107-110. https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12165
- Cleland, J. A. (2017). The qualitative orientation in medical education research. *Korean Journal of Medical Education*, 29(2), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.3946/kjme.2017.53
- Coetzer, M., Bussin, M., & Geldenhuys, M. (2017). The functions of a servant leader. *Administrative Sciences*, 7(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci7010005
- Cohen, G., Blake, R. S., & Goodman, D. (2016). Does turnover intention matter?

 Evaluating the usefulness of turnover intention rate as a predictor of actual turnover rate. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, *36*(3), 240-263.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X15581850

- Constantinou, C. S., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (CoMeTS) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative**Research*, 17(5), 571-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650
- Cropanzano, R., Dasborough, M. T., & Weiss, H. M. (2017). Affective events and the development of leader-member exchange. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(2), 233-258. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0384
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2019). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, *29*(8), 621-636.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research:

 Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing: DCCN*, *36*(4), 253-263.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000000253
- Cypress, B. S. (2019). Data analysis software in qualitative research. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 38 (4), 213-220. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.000000000000363.
- Dansereau, F., Graen, G., & Haga, B. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 13(1), 46-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(75)90005-7

- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). http://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Dewa, P. K., Pujawan, I. N., & Vanany, I. (2017). Human errors in warehouse operations: an improvement model. *International Journal of Logistics Systems* and Management, 27(3), 298-317. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijlsm.2017.084468
- De Winne, S., Marescaux, E., Sels, L., Van Beveren, I., & Vanormelingen, S. (2019).

 The impact of employee turnover and turnover volatility on labor productivity: A flexible non-linear approach. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(21), 3049-3079.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1449129
- Dillon, J. (2020, December 17). Distribution centers space Savannah: Savannah's port. https://seda.org/industries/logistics-distribution/
- Dobrosavljević, A., & Urošević, S. (2021). Research of the influence of CSR dimensions integration in business processes on the reduction of the employee turnover in apparel industry organizations using AHP and TOPSIS methods. *Engineering Management Journal*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/10429247.2021.1940043
- Dunning, D. (2011). The Dunning–Kruger effect: On being ignorant of one's own ignorance. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, (44), 247-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-385522-0.00005-6

- Dutta, S., & Khatri, P. (2017). Servant leadership and positive organizational behaviour: The road ahead to reduce employees' turnover intentions. *On the Horizon*, *25*(1), 60-82. https://doi.org/10.1108/OTH-06-2016-0029
- Eberly, M. B., Bluhm, D. J., Guarana, C., Avolio, B. J., & Hannah, S. T. (2017). Staying after the storm: How transformational leadership relates to follower turnover intentions in extreme contexts. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *102*, 72-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.07.004
- Elche, D., Ruiz-Palomino, P., & Linuesa-Langreo, J. (2020). Servant leadership and organizational citizenship behavior: The mediating effect of empathy and service climate. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *33*(6), 2035-2053. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-05-2019-0501
- Ellis, A. M., Bauer, T. N., Erdrogan, B., & Truxillo, D. M. (2019). Daily perceptions of relationship quality with leaders: Implications for follower well-being, *Work & Stress*, *33*(2), 119-136.https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2018.1445670
- Epitropaki, O., Kapoutsis, I., Ellen III, B. P., Ferris, G. R., Drivas, K., & Ntotsi, A. (2016). Navigating uneven terrain: The roles of political skill and LMX differentiation in the prediction of work relationship quality and work outcomes. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *37*(7), 1078-1103. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2100

- Erkutlu, H., & Chafra, J. (2017). Authentic leadership and organizational job embeddedness in higher education. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (HU Journal of Education)*, *32*(2), 413-426. https://doi.org/10.16986/HUJE.2016018528
- Estel, V., Schulte, E., Spurk, D., & Kauffeld, S. (2019). LMX differentiation is good for some and bad for others: A multilevel analysis of the effects of LMX differentiation in innovation teams. *Cogent Psychology*, *6*(1), 1-17. http://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2019.1614306
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(1), 111-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Fàbregues, S., & Molina-Azorín, J. F. (2017). Addressing quality in mixed methods research: A review and recommendations for a future agenda. *Quality & Quantity*, *51*(6), 2847-2863. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-016-0449-4
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (Write a Scientific Paper): Sampling in qualitative research. *Early Human Development*, *133*, 69-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016

- Fernandez Lynch, H. (2020). The right to withdraw from controlled human infection studies: Justifications and avoidance. *Bioethics*, *34*(8), 833-848.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12704
- Fischer, S. A. (2016). Transformational leadership in nursing: A concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72, 2644-2653. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13049
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211-217.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Fukui, S., Wu, W., & Salyers, M. P. (2019). Mediational paths from supervisor support to turnover intention and actual turnover among community mental health providers. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 42(4), 350-357.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/prj0000362
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923-941. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2580
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02m
- Geddis-Regan, A. R., Exley, C., & Taylor, G. D. (2021). Navigating the dual role of clinician-researcher in qualitative dental research. *JDR Clinical & Translational Research*, 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1177/2380084421998613

- Gentles, S. J., & Vilches, S. L. (2017). Calling for a shared understanding of sampling terminology in qualitative research: Proposed clarifications derived from critical analysis of a methods overview by McCrae and Purssell. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917725678
- Georgia Department of Labor. (n.d.). *Minimum wage*. Minimum Wage. Retrieved from https://dol.georgia.gov/minimum-wage
- Georgia Department of Labor's Workforce Statistics and Economic Research Division.

 (2019). Georgia workforce trends: An analysis of long-term employment projections to 2028. *Work Force Projections*.

 https://explorer.gdol.ga.gov/vosnet/mis/Current/gaworkforcecurrent.pd
- Georgia Ports Authority. (2018). *Georgia Ports plan 8 million TEU capacity by 2028*. http://gaports.com/media/press-releases/artmid/3569/articleid/200/georgia-ports-plan-8-million-teu-capacity-by-2028.
- Georgia Ports Authority. (2019). *Georgia Ports annual report*. http://gaports.com/about/annual-report.
- Georgia Ports Authority. (2020). *GPA unveils major expansions*. https://gaports.com/press-releases/gpa-unveils-major-expansions/.
- Gottfredson, R. K., Wright, S. L., & Heaphy, E. D. (2020). A critique of the leader-member exchange construct: Back to square one. *The Leadership*Quarterly, 31(6), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2020.101385

- Graen, G. B., & Uhl-Bein, M. (1995). Development of leader-member exchange theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 219-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4212
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1977). Servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Paulist Press.
- Grégoris, M., Deschamps, F., Salles, J., & Sanchez, S. (2017). Health assessment of self-employed in the foodservice industry. *International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 23(3), 234-242.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10773525.2018.1470788
- Grotto, A. R., Hyland, P. K., Caputo, A. W., & Semedo, C. (2017). Employee turnover and strategies for retention. *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of the Psychology of Recruitment, Selection and Employee Retention*, 443-472.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118972472.ch21
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1525822X05279903
- Guest, G., Namey, E. E., & Mitchell, M. L. (2017). Collecting qualitative data: A field manual for applied research. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506374680

- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS One*, *15*(5),1-17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Hanse, J. J., Harlin, U., Jarebrant, C., Ulin, K., & Winkel, J. (2016). The impact of servant leadership dimensions on leader-member exchange among health care professionals. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(2), 228-234.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12304
- Haqq, Z. N. (2021). The linkage between change communication and behavioral resistance to change: Moderating effect of trust in managment. *Mega Aktiva:***Jurnal Ekonomi dan Manajemen, 10(2), 86-101.

 http://doi.org/10.32833/majem.v10i2.209
- Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). Collective turnover. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *4*, 527-544. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113139
- Hayashi, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(1), 98-112. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3443
- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2018). What is a case study? *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *21*(1), 7–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102845
- Heesen, R., Bright, L. K., & Zucker, A. (2019). Vindicating methodological triangulation. *Synthese*, 196(8), 3067-3081. http://doi.org.org/10.1007/s11229-016-1294-7

- Hennink, M. M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2020). *Saturation in qualitative research*. Sage Publications Limited. http://doi.org/10.4135/9781526421036822322
- Hill, M. V., Bleicher, R. J., & Farma, J. M. (2021). A how-to guide: Virtual interviews in the era of social distancing. *Journal of surgical education*, 78(1), 321-323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2020.07.016
- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2016). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 501-529. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316665461
- Hoffman, K., & Howard, J. (2017). Raising local revenue: The use and adequacy of voluntary property taxes in Arkansas. *Journal of Public Budgeting, Accounting & Financial Management*, (29)4, 498-521. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBAFM-29-04-2017-B003
- Holt, S., Hall, A., & Gilley, A. (2018). Essential Components of Leadership

 Development Programs. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, *30*(2), 214-229.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/45176579
- Hom, P. W., Allen, D. G., & Griffeth, R. W. (2019). Employee retention and turnover:

 Why employees stay or leave. *Routledge*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315145587
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 530. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000103

- Hou, B., Hong, J., Zhu, K., & Zhou, Y. (2019). Paternalistic leadership and innovation:
 The moderating effect of environmental dynamism. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 22(3), 562-582. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-07-2018-0141
- Hwang, Y., Kim, S., & Shin, D. (2020). Investigating the role of leader-member exchange for goal commitment in system implementation. *Information Technology & People*, 33(6), 1555-1573. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-06-2019-0310
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities. *Information Technology & People, 31*(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168
- Iqbal, S., Tian, H., Akhtar, S., Ahmed, U., & Ankomah, F. (2020). Impacts of supervisor support on turnover intentions: Mediating role of job satisfaction. *Asian Journal of Education and Social Studies*, 6(3), 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.9734/AJESS/2020/v6i330174
- Jaiswal, N. K., & Dhar, R. L. (2017). The influence of servant leadership, trust in leader, and thriving on employee creativity. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(1), 2-21. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-02-2015-0017

- Jang, J., & Kandampully, J. (2018). Reducing employee turnover intention through servant leadership in the restaurant context: A mediation study of affective organizational commitment, *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism* Administration, 19(2), 125-141. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2017.1305310
- Jawahar, I. M., Schreurs, B., & Mohammed, S. J. (2018). How and when LMX quality relates to counterproductive performance: A mediated moderation model. *Career Development International*, 23(6/7), 557-575. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-05-2018-0134
- Jena, L. K., Pradhan, S., & Panigrahy, N. P. (2018). Pursuit of organisational trust: Role of employee engagement, psychological well-being, and transformational leadership. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 23(3), 227-234.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.11.001
- Jones, S., & White, G. (2021). Reward strategy and managing performance. *Strategic Human Resource Management: An International Perspective*, 217. SAGE
- Joseph, E. E., & Winston, B. E. (2005). A correlation of servant leadership, leader trust, and organizational trust. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 26(1), 6-22. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730510575552
- Joshi, A., Bloom, D. A., Spencer, A., Gaetke-Udager, K., & Cohan, R. H. (2020). Video interviewing: A review and recommendations for implementation in the era of COVID-19 and beyond. *Academic Radiology*, 27(9), 1316-1322.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2020.05.020

- Kang, M. S., Pan, H., & Ha, H. Y. (2018). An empirical test of replacement costs of turnover using human capital corporate panel in Korea. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 24(3), 312-329. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2018.1433744
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, 13(1), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Kashyap, V., & Rangnekar, S. (2016). Servant leadership, employer brand perception, trust in leaders, and turnover intentions: A sequential mediation model. *Review of Managerial Science*, 10(3), 437-461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-014-0152-6
- Kaur, P. (2018). Mediator analysis of job satisfaction: Relationship between servant leadership and employee engagement. *Metamorphosis*, *17*(2), 76-85. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972622518804025
- Khaldi, K. (2017). Quantitative, qualitative, or mixed research: Which research paradigm to use? *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 7(2), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.5901/jesr.2017.v7n2p15
- Khan, M. S., Sentosa, I., & Salman, F. (2018). Exploring the role of transformational leadership in human capital effectiveness. *World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management, and Sustainable Development, 14*(2), 191-204. https://doi.org/10.1108/WJEMSD-10-2017-0075
- Khatri, P., & Dutta, S. (2018). Servant leadership and psychological ownership:

 Curtailing resistance to change. *Journal Of Business and Management (IOSR-JBM)*, 20(3), 5-12. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2003120512

- Khattak, M. N., Zolin, R., & Muhammad, N. (2020). Linking transformational leadership and continuous improvement. *Management Research Review*, *43*(8), 931-950. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2019-0268
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical teacher*, 42(8), 846-854.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kim, P. B., Lee, G., & Jang, J. (2017a). Employee empowerment and its contextual determinants and outcome for service workers. *Management Decision*, 55(5), 1022-1041. https://doi.org/10.1108/md-02-2016-0089
- Kim, P. B., Poulston, J., & Sankaran, A. C. (2017b). An examination of leader-member Exchange (LMX) agreement between employees and their supervisors and its influence on work outcomes. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(3), 238-258. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2017.1228094
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 2: Context, research questions, and designs. *European Journal of General Practice*, *23*(1), 274-279. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375090
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Lacroix, M., & Pircher Verdorfer, A. (2017). Can servant leaders fuel the leadership fire?

 The relationship between servant leadership and followers' leadership avoidance. *Administrative Sciences*, 7(1), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci7010006
- Lancaster, K. (2017). Confidentiality, anonymity, and power relations in elite interviewing: Conducting qualitative policy research in a politicised domain. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 93-103. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1123555
- Lapointe, É., & Vandenberghe, C. (2018). Examination of the relationships between servant leadership, organizational commitment, and voice, and antisocial behaviors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *148*(1), 99-115.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-3002-9
- Lee, J., & Varon, A. L. (2020). Employee exit, voice, loyalty, and neglect in response to dissatisfying organizational situations: It depends on supervisory relationship quality. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *57*(1), 30-51. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416675839
- Lee, K., & Chae, Y. J. (2017). LMX differentiation, diversity, and group performance:

 Evidence for curvilinear and interaction effects. *Career Development*International, 22(2), 106-123. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-11-2015-0154

- Lee, M. C. C., Idris, M. A., & Tuckey, M. (2019). Supervisory coaching and performance feedback as mediators of the relationships between leadership styles, work engagement, and turnover intention. *Human Resource Development International*, 22(3), 257–282. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2018.1530170
- Lee, S. (2018). Employee turnover and organizational performance in U.S. federal agencies. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 48(6), 522-534. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074017715322
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P., Eberly, M., & Li, J. (2018). Managing employee retention and turnover with 21st-century ideas. *Organizational Dynamics*, 47(2), 88-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.08.004
- Lee, T. W., Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., McDaneil, L. S., & Hill, J. W. (1999). The unfolding model of voluntary turnover: A replication and extension. *Academy of Management Journal*, 42(4), 450-462. https://doi.org/10.5465/257015
- Leo, S. (2019). Pitfalls of tourism graduate students in presenting the ingredients of research proposals. *Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism Education,* 24(1), 178-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2019.03.003
- Levett-Jones, T., Cant, R., & Lapkin, S. (2019). A systematic review of the effectiveness of empathy education for undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, 75, 80-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.01.006
- Lewis, W., & DiFurio, F. (2021). Using a SLX Model to Examine the Impact of the Great Recession on Poverty in South Carolina. *Journal of Poverty*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2021.1925808

- Lewis-Beck, M. S., Bryman, A., & Liao, F. T. (2004). *The SAGE encyclopedia of social science research methods*. SAGE. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412950589
- Li, H., Sajjad, N., Wang, Q., Muhammad Ali, A., Khaqan, Z., & Amina, S. (2019).

 Influence of transformational leadership on employees' innovative work behavior in sustainable organizations: Test of mediation and moderation processes. *Sustainability*, 11(6), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061594
- Li, M. (2017). The composition and case study of the nurses' voluntary turnover cost in China. *Modern Economy*, 8(6), 834-846. https://doi.org/10.4236/me.2017.86058
- Li, P., & Guthrie, J. P. (2016). Collective Turnover: The loss of human capital and stars. *Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 2016(1), 1883-1888. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2016.10
- Liao, C., Lee, H. W., Johnson, R. E., & Lin, S. H. (2020). Serving you depletes me? A leader-centric examination of servant leadership behaviors. *Journal of Management*, 1-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320906883
- Liden, R. C., Sparrowe, R. T., & Wayne, S. J. (1997). Leader ☐ member exchange theory:

 The past and potential for the future. *Research in Personnel and Human*Resources Management, 15, 47-120.
- Lin, C.-Y. and Huang, C.-K. (2021). Employee turnover intentions and job performance from a planned change: The effects of an organizational learning culture and job satisfaction. *International Journal of Manpower*, *42*(3), 409-423. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-08-2018-0281

- Ling, Q., Lin, M., & Wu, X. (2016). The trickle-down effect of servant leadership on frontline employee service behaviors and performance: A multilevel study of Chinese hotels. *Tourism Management*, *52*, 341-368.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.07.008
- Locke, L. G. (2019). The clay feet of servant leadership. *Journal of Biblical Integration* in *Business*, 22(1). https://www.cbfa-cbar.org/index.php/jbib/article/view/519
- Lowe, N. K. (2019). What is a pilot study?. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 48(2), 117-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2019.01.005
- Lu, L., Lu, A. C. C., Gursoy, D., & Neale, N. R. (2016). Work engagement, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(4), 737-761. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-07-2014-0360
- Lu, X., & Sun, J. M. J. (2017). Multiple pathways linking leader-member exchange to work effort. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *32*(4), 270-283. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-01-2016-0011
- Ludwikowska, K. (2018). The effectiveness of training needs analysis and its relation to employee efficiency. *Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki Poznańskiej. Organizacja i Zarządzanie*, 77, 179-193. https://doi.org/10.21008/j.0239-9415.2018.077.11
- Majid, M. A. A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., Lim, S. A. H., & Yusof, A. (2017).

 Piloting for interviews in qualitative research: Operationalization and lessons learnt. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(4), 1073-1080. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v7-i4/2916

- Malhotra, B. (2019). Art Therapy with puppet making to promote emotional empathy for an adolescent with autism. *Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association*, 36(4), 183-191. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421656.2019.1645500
- Malik, W. U., Javed, M., & Hassan, S. T. (2017). Influence of transformational leadership components on job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, *11*(1), 147-166. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/188286
- Martin, R., Thomas, G., Legood, A., & Dello Russo, S. (2018). Leader-member exchange (LMX) differentiation and work outcomes: Conceptual clarification and critical review. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(2), 151-168.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2202
- Martin-Ferreres, M. L., Pardo, M. Á. D. J., Porras, D. B., & Moya, J. L. M. (2019). An ethnographic study of human dignity in nursing practice. *Nursing Outlook*, *67*(4), 393-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2019.02.010
- Massetti, G. M., Jackson, B. R., Brooks, J. T., Perrine, C. G., Reott, E., Hall, A. J., Lubar, D., Williams, I. T., Ritchey, M. D., Patel, P., Liburd, L. C., & Mahon, B. E.
 (2022). Summary of guidance for minimizing the impact of COVID-19 on individual persons, communities, and Health Care Systems United States, August 2022. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 71(33), 1057–1064. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7133e1

- Maxwell, J. A. (2021). Why qualitative methods are necessary for generalization. *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(1), 111-118. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000173
- McDermid, F., Mannix, J., & Peters, K. (2019). Factors contributing to high turnover rates of emergency nurses: A review of the literature. *Australian Critical Care*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2019.09.002
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Meng, Q., Zhu, H., Xiao, K., & Xiong, H. (2018). Intelligent salary benchmarking for talent recruitment: A holistic matrix factorization approach. 2018 IEEE International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM). 337-346 https://doi.org/10.1109/icdm.2018.00049
- Min, H. (2007). Examining sources of warehouse employee turnover, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, *37*(5), 375-388. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030710758437
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay: Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(6), 1102-1121. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069391

- Mitchell, T. R., & Lee, T. W. (2001). The unfolding model of voluntary turnover and job embeddedness: Foundations for a comprehensive theory of attachment. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 23, 189-246. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-3085(01)23006-8
- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *62*(2), 237-240. http://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.62.2.237
- Mobley, W. H., Griffeth, R. W., Hand, H. H., & Meglino, B. M. (1979). Review and conceptual analysis of the employee turnover process. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86, 493-522. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.86.3.493
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University. Economic Series*, *17*(4), 59-82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *45*(1), 103-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection, and analysis. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mostafa, A. M. S., & El-Motalib, E. A. A. (2019). Servant leadership, leader-member exchange, and proactive behavior in the public health sector. *Public Personnel Management*, 48(3), 309-324. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026018816340

- Muhammad, I. K., Syed Haider, A. S., Haider, A., Aziz, S., & Kazmi, M. (2020). The role of supervisor support on work-family conflict and employee turnover intentions in the workplace with mediating effect of affective commitment in Twin Cities in the banking industry, Pakistan. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 10(6), 42-50. https://doi.org/10.32479/irmm.10807
- Muzammal, I. S., Hafiz, M. A., & Shujahat, H. H. (2017). Leader-member exchange relationship and organizational justice: Moderating role of organizational change. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 6(2), 276-282. https://doi.org/10.19236/IJOL.2017.02.11
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subject's research.

 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Needham, M. (2019). The impact of two behavior characteristics of the servant leadership theory on the employee turnover in fast-casual restaurants. *International Journal of Management and Human Resources*, 7(1), 66-94.
- Negros, J. (2022). Factors that leverage the key drivers of creating a culture of employee engagement in the business process outsourcing company: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of Education, Management and Development Studies*, *2*(1), 67-75. https://doi.org/10.52631/jemds.v2i1.73

- Nerstad, C. G. L., Dysvik, A., Kuvaas, B., & Buch, R. (2018). Negative and positive synergies: On employee development practices, motivational climate, and employee outcomes. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(5), 1285–1302. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21904
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others? *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Newman, A., Schwarz, G., Cooper, B., & Sendjaya, S. (2017). How servant leadership influences organizational citizenship behavior: The roles of LMX, empowerment, and proactive personality. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *145*(1), 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2827-6
- Nguyen, T. (2020). Impact of leader-member relationship quality on job satisfaction, innovation, and operational performance: A case in Vietnam. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(6), 449-456.

 https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no6.449
- Nohe, C., & Hertel, G. (2017). Transformational leadership and organizational citizenship behavior: A meta-analytic test of underlying mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01364
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847

- O'Connor, S. (2020). Secondary data analysis in nursing research: A contemporary discussion. *Clinical Nursing Research*, *29*(5), 279-284. https://doi.org/10.1177/1054773820927144
- OSHA Pocket File: Worker safety series warehousing. (n.d)

 https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/publications/3220 Warehouse.pdf.
- Paleri, V., Perera, S., Dudha, S., Harland, R., & Codling, D. (2021). Evaluating the huddle as a method of improving staff communication and process efficiency on a psychiatric inpatient ward. *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 27(4), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjhc.2020.0146
- Panayiotou, H., Higgs, C., & Foy, R. (2020). Exploring the feasibility of patient safety huddles in general practice. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 21, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423620000298
- Parfitt, C. M., & Rose, A. L. (2020). Informal mentoring for aspiring school leaders: A phenomenological study. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, *28*(3), 278-294. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2020.1778837
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Park, T., & Pierce, B. (2020). Impacts of transformational leadership on turnover intention of child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104624

- Peesker, K. M., Ryals, L. J., Rich, G. A., & Boehnke, S. E. (2019). A qualitative study of leader behaviors perceived to enable salesperson performance. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 39(4), 319-333.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2019.1596816
- Peterson, J. S. (2019). Presenting a qualitative study: A reviewer's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 63(3), 147-158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844789
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research.

 Nursing Ethics, 23, 442-454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014564909
- Phillips, M., & Lu, J. (2018). A quick look at NVivo. *Journal of Electronic Resources Librarianship*, 30(2), 104-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/1941126X.2018.1465535
- Pierre, D. E., & Okstad, J. (2021). Utilizing leadership assessment tools in graduate education. *New Directions for Student Leadership*, *2021*(170), 87-95. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20445
- Pilbeam, C., Doherty, N., Davidson, R., & Denyer, D. (2016). Safety leadership practices for organizational safety compliance: Developing a research agenda from a review of the literature. *Safety Science*, 86, 110-121.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.015
- Podgórska, M., & Pichlak, M. (2019). Analysis of project managers' leadership competencies. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business, 12*(4), 869-887. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-08-2018-0149

- Prasetio, A. P., Azis, E., & Anggadwita, G. (2019). Exploring compensation satisfaction to enhance motivation and reduce turnover intention among employee of private bottled water company in Indonesia. *Jurnal Bisnis dan Manajemen, 20*(1), 32-48. https://doi.org/10.24198/jbm.v20i1.274
- Price, J. L. (2001). Reflections on the determinants of voluntary turnover. *International Journal of Manpower*, 22(7), 600-624. https://doi-org/10.1108/EUM0000000006233
- Puni, A., Mohammed, I., & Asamoah, E. (2018). Transformational leadership and job satisfaction: The moderating effect of contingent reward. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(4), 522-537. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2017-0358
- Purba, D. E., Oostrom, J. K., Born, M. P., & van der Molen, H. T. (2016). The relationships between trust in supervisor, turnover intentions, and voluntary turnover: Testing the mediating effect of on-the-job embeddedness. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *15*(4), 174-183. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000165
- Qaisar Danish, R., Shahid, F., Bano, S., Fawad Ali, H., & Afzal Humayon, A. (2019).

 Supervision support and turnover intension: Impact of employee's training in banking sector of Pakistan. *European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences: Proceedings*, 8(1), 121-132. https://european-science.com/eojnss-proc/article/view/5667/2636

- Quade, M. J., McLarty, B. D., & Bonner, J. M. (2020). The influence of supervisor bottom-line mentality and employee bottom-line mentality on leader-member exchange and subsequent employee performance. *Human Relations*, 73(8), 1157-1181. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726719858394
- Quejado, M. R. M., Recede, R. A. A., & Carnecer, R. B. (2022). Teacher education students' preferred learning styles in the new normal: Basis for enhancing pedagogies. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary: Applied Business and Education Research*, 3(5), 758-766. http://doi.org/10.11594/ijmaber.03.05.04
- Qutoshi, S. B. (2018). Phenomenology: A philosophy and method of inquiry. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, *5*(1), 215-222. http://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v5i1.2154
- Rahman, M. S. (2020). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "testing and assessment" research: A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(1), 102-112. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v6n1p102
- Ramli, A., Bakar, M. S., Pulka, B. M., & Ibrahim, N. A. (2017). Linking human capital, information technology and material handling equipment to warehouse operations performance. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *6*(4), 254-259. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/322160890

- Reina, C. S., Rogers, K. M., Peterson, S. J., Byron, K., & Hom, P. W. (2018). Quitting the boss? The role of manager influence tactics and employee emotional engagement in voluntary turnover. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *25*(1), 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817709007
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *25*(9), 3185-3203. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640
- Rodriguez-Patarroyo, M., Torres-Quintero, A., Vecino-Ortiz, A. I., Hallez, K., Franco-Rodriguez, A. N., Rueda Barrera, E. A., Puerto, S., Gibson, D. G., Labrique, A., Pariyo, G. W., & Ali, J. (2021). Informed consent for mobile phone health surveys in Colombia: A qualitative study. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *16*(1-2), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264620958606
- Rony, Z. T., Yasin, M., Lubis, F. M., & Syarief, F. (2020). The role of active constructive feedback in building employee performance (Case study at a private construction company in Indonesia 2018-2019). *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilation*, 24(08), 9350-9359.

http://repository.ubharajaya.ac.id/3211/1/The%20Role%20of%20Active.pdf

Ross, D. B., Matteson, R. W., Sasso, M. T., & Peyton, G. L. (2020). A remedy for improving the culture in higher education: Toxic leadership to servant leadership.
 Confronting academic mobbing in higher education: Personal accounts and administrative action, 159-185. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-9485-7.ch007

- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on medical education*, 8(4), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Roux, M., & Härtel, C. E. (2018). The cognitive, emotional, and behavioral qualities required for leadership assessment and development in the new world of work.

 Individual, Relational, and Contextual Dynamics of Emotions, 14, 59-69. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1746-979120180000014010
- Rubenstein, A. L., Kammeyer Mueller, J. D., Wang, M., & Thundiyil, T. G. (2019).

 "Embedded" at hire? Predicting the voluntary and involuntary turnover of new employees. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(3), 342-359.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2335
- Ryu, S., & Jinnai, Y. (2021). Effects of monetary incentives on teacher turnover: A longitudinal analysis. *Public Personnel Management*, 50(2), 205–231. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026020921414
- Sahu, S., Pathardikar, A., & Kumar, A. (2018). Transformational leadership and turnover.

 Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 39(1), 82-99.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj12-2014-0243
- Samwel, J. O. (2018). Effect of employee relations on employee performance and organizational performance-study of small organizations in Tanzania. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research: Administration and Management*, 18(8), 30-39.

- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Schatz, M., & Bergren, M. D. (2022). The huddle: A daily dose of communication. *NASN School Nurse*, *37*(2), 76–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942602X211056371
- Schaubroeck, J. M., Shen, Y., & Chong, S. (2017). A dual-stage moderated mediation model linking authoritarian leadership to follower outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(2), 203-214. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000165
- Schoenung, B., & Dikova, D. (2016). Reflections on organizational team diversity research: In search of a logical support to an assumption, *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, 35(3), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-11-2015-0095
- Seo, J., Nahrgang, J. D., Carter, M. Z., & Hom, P. W. (2018). Not all differentiation is the same: Examining the moderating effects of leader-member exchange (LMX) configurations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 103(5), 478-495.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000262
- Singar, E., & Couper, M. P. (2017). Some methodological uses of responses to open questions and other verbatim comments in quantitative surveys. *Open Access*, *11*(2), 115-134. https://doi.org/10.12758/mda.2017.01
- Skelton, A. R., Nattress, D., & Dwyer, R. J. (2019). Predicting manufacturing employee turnover intentions. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science*, 25(49), 101-117. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEFAS-07-2018-0069

- Song, Y., Tian, Q. T., & Kwan, H. K. (2021). Servant leadership and employee voice: a moderated mediation. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *37*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-02-2020-0077
- Soroush, A., Abdi, A., Andayeshgar, B., Vahdat, A., & Khatony, A. (2018). Exploring the perceived factors that affect self-medication among nursing students: A qualitative study. *Bio-Med Central Nursing*, 17(1), 1-7.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-018-0302-2
- Sousa, M., & Van Dierendonck, D. (2016). Introducing a short measure of shared servant leadership impacting team performance through team behavioral integration. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.02002
- Sparrowe, R. T. (2020). LMX and welfare trade-off ratios: An evolutionary perspective on leader-member relations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *31*(2), 101271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.11.001
- Spears, L. (1996). Reflections on Robert K. Greenleaf and servant ☐ leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 17(7), 33-35. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437739610148367
- Spears, L. C. (2010). Character and servant leadership: Ten characteristics of effective, caring leaders. *The Journal of Virtues & Leadership*, *I*(1), 25-30.

 https://www.regent.edu/journal/journal-of-virtues-leadership/character-and-servant-leadership-ten-characteristics-of-effective-caring-leaders/

- Spiers, J., Morse, J., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018). Reflection/commentary on a past article: Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Srivastava, S., & Agrawal, S. (2020). Resistance to change and turnover intention: A moderated mediation model of burnout and perceived organizational support.

 *Journal of Organizational Change Management, 33(7), 1431-1447. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-02-2020-0063
- Su, W., & Xiao, F. (2022). Supervisor positive feedback and employee performance:

 Promotion focus as a mediator. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 50(2), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.11135
- Sull, D., Sull, C., & Zweig, B. (2022). Toxic culture is driving the great resignation. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 63(2), 1-9. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/toxic-culture-is-driving-the-great-resignation/
- Sun, R., & Henderson, A. C. (2017). Transformational leadership and organizational processes: Influencing public performance. *Public Administration Review*, 77(4), 554-565. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12654
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2017). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, *19*(8), 1124-1141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063

- Thacker, C., Sullivan, G., & Self, S. (2019). How servant leadership principles affect employee turnover at a solid waste management firm. *Journal of Leadership*,

 Accountability and Ethics, 16(2), 64-79. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v16i2.2023
- Thao, N. P. H., & Kang, S.-W. (2020). When servant leaders inspire followers to become organizational citizens? Empirical evidence from Vietnam. *SAGE Open, 10*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019900184
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Trong Tuan, L. (2017). Knowledge sharing in public organizations: The roles of servant leadership and organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 40(4), 361-373.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2015.1113550
- Tsitmideli, G., Skordoulis, M., Chalikias, M., Sidiropoulos, G., & Papagrigoriou, A. (2016). Supervisors and subordinates' relationship impact on job satisfaction and efficiency: The case of obstetric clinics in Greece. *International Journal of Strategic Innovative Marketing*, *3*(3), 1-1. https://doi.org/10.15556/IJSIM.03.03.001
- Turgut, H., Bekmezci, M., & Ates, M. F. (2017). The moderating role of job satisfaction on the relationship between servant leadership and turnover intention. *Journal of Business Research Turk*, 9(2), 300-314. https://doi.org/10.20491/isarder.2017.273

- Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods: A triangulation-based framework and roadmap. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 243–267. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115610808
- Twining, P., Heller, R. A., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C. C. (2017). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Education, 106*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002
- Usadolo, S. E., & Usadolo, Q. E. (2019). The impact of lower-level management on volunteers' workplace outcomes in South African non-profit organisations: The mediating role of supportive supervisor communication. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations*, 30(1), 244–258.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-018-9970-5
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022). *Industry profile for Transportation and Material Moving Occupations*. Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics. https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes530000.htm
- Vardaman, J. M., Allen, D. G., & Rogers, B. L. (2018). We are friends but are we family? Organizational identification and nonfamily employee turnover. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *42*(2), 290-309. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1042258717749235
- Varolgunes, R. S., Baydas, A., & Çamuka, L. S. (2018). The effects of managerial attitudes and behaviours upon the performance of the employee: Bingol Banking sample. *IMESET'18 DUBAI*, 97-106

- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40-50.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Vasquez, D. (2014). Employee retention for economic stabilization: A qualitative phenomenological study in the hospitality sector. *International Journal of Management, Economics and Social Sciences, 3*(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1.1.428.5174
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, *14*(2), 72-79. https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.0000000000000000099
- Wahlbeck, K., & McDaid, D. (2012). Actions to alleviate the mental health impact of the economic crisis. *World Psychiatry*, 11(3), 139-145.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2012.tb00114.x
- Walden University. (2016). Doctoral study rubric and research handbook. Available from http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/osra/dba
- Wang, H., & Guan, B. (2018). The positive effect of authoritarian leadership on employee performance: The moderating role of power distance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(357), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00357

- Wang, Xin, Li Wang, Li Zhang, Xiaobo Xu, Weiyong Zhang, and Yingcheng Xu. (2017).

 Developing an employee turnover risk evaluation model using case-based reasoning. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 19(3), 569-576.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-015-9615-9
- Weisz, E., Ong, D. C., Carlson, R. W., & Zaki, J. (2020). Building empathy through motivation-based interventions. *Emotion*, 21(5), 990-999.
 http://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000929
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C. C., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *PloS one*, *13*(6), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198606
- Wilden, R., Hohberger, J., Devinney, T. M., & Lumineau, F. (2019). 60 years of March and Simon's organizations: An empirical examination of its impact and influence on subsequent research. *Journal of Management Studies*, *56*(8), 1570-1604. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3481870
- Workforce Statistics & Economic Research, Occupational Employment Statistics and Wages Program. (n.d.). *Employment Wage Statistics*. Georgia Labor Market Explorer.

https://explorer.gdol.ga.gov/vosnet/lmi/profiles/profileDetails.aspx?session=occdetail&valueName=occupation&ion=employmentWage

- Wynen, J., Van Dooren, W., Mattijs, J., & Deschamps, C. (2019). Linking turnover to organizational performance: The role of process conformance. *Public Management Review*, *21*(5), 669-685. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1503704
- Xie, Z., Li, N., Jiang, W., & Kirkman, B. L. (2019). The paradox of leader-member exchange (LMX) differentiation: How treating followers differently can both enhance and impede employee performance. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 18(4), 165-176. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000231
- Yang, J., Liu, H., & Gu, J. (2017a). A multi-level study of servant leadership on creativity. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*. 38(5), 610-629. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-10-2015-0229
- Yang, R., Ming, Y., Ma, J., & Huo, R. (2017b). How do servant leaders promote engagement? A bottom-up perspective of job crafting. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 45(11), 1815-1827. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6704
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, *23*(11), 2700-2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Designs and methods (6th ed.). Sage.

- Zapf, P. A., & Dror, I. E. (2017). Understanding and mitigating bias in forensic evaluation: Lessons from forensic science. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 16(3), 227-238. https://doi.org/10.1080/14999013.2017.1317302
- Zhang, Y. J. (2016). A review of employee turnover influence factor and countermeasure.

 Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies, 4, 85-91.

 https://doi.org/10.4236/jhrss.2016.42010
- Zhao, H., Liu, W., Li, J., & Yu, X. (2019). Leader-member exchange, organizational identification, and knowledge hiding: The moderating role of relative leader-member exchange. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(7), 834-848. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2359
- Zhao, Y., Hryniewicki, M. K., Cheng, F., Fu, B., & Zhu, X. (2018). Employee turnover prediction with machine learning: A reliable approach. *Intelligent Systems and Applications*, 737-758. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01057-7_56
- Živković, A., Franjković, J., & Dujak, D. (2021). The role of organizational commitment in employee turnover in logistics activities of food supply chain. *LogForum*, *17*(1), 25–36. https://doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2021.536
- Zoom Video Communications, Inc. (n.d.). Video Conferencing, Web Conferencing, Webinars, Screen Sharing. Zoom Video.

https://explore.zoom.us/meetings?_ga=2.267174091.418922404.1621915132-900806901.1621915132

Appendix: Interview Protocol

What you will do	What you will say—script
Introduce the interview and set the stage	Hello (interviewee). Thank you for taking the time to meet with me today. My name is Simone Hicks, and I am a doctoral scholar at Walden University. I know that employee turnover is a problem that turnover negatively affects employee efficiency, organizational costs, and employee well-being. The aim of this interview is to determine what strategies successful warehouse supervisors use to reduce employee turnover.
 Watch for non-verbal queues Paraphrase as needed Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in-depth information 	 What strategies do you use to reduce turnover? What strategies were most effective in reducing turnover? What strategies were least effective in reducing turnover? How do you assess the effectiveness of your strategies to reduce turnover? What career advancement and training opportunities do you provide employees to reduce turnover? What barriers did you experience as you incorporated strategies to reduce turnover? What additional information would you like to share about strategies that you use to reduce turnover?
Wrap up interview thanking participant	Those are all the questions I have. Do you have any further comments you wish to make on the topic of employee turnover in the warehousing environment? Thank you so much for your time today. Your input has been extremely helpful to my case study.

What you will do	What you will say—script
Share a copy of the succinct synthesis for each individual question	Thank you for taking the time to meet with me again to conduct member checking. I am providing you with a succinct analysis for your review?
Bring in probing questions related to other information that you may have found—note the information must be related so that you are probing and adhering to the IRB approval. Review each question, read the interpretation, and ask: Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?	
Follow-Up Member Checking Interview.	What strategies do you use to reduce turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?
	2. What strategies were most effective in reducing turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?
	3. What strategies were least effective in reducing turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?

What you will do	What you will say—script
	4. How do you assess the effectiveness of your strategies to reduce turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?
	5. What career advancement and training opportunities do you provide employees to reduce turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?
	6. What barriers did you experience as you incorporated strategies to reduce turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?
	7. What additional information would you like to share about strategies that you use to reduce turnover?
	Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?